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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Good afternoon.

          3  This is a hearing of the City Council's Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice Services Committee.

          5                 I am Larry Warden, Chairman of the

          6  Committee. Today the Committee will conduct a

          7  hearing on two resolutions. Resolution 1660 and

          8  Resolution 1473.

          9                 Resolution 1660, which I recently

         10  introduced, calls upon the appropriate committee of

         11  the City Council to conduct a hearing on the

         12  expanding role of DNA evidence in law enforcement

         13  and its effect on the Administration of the death

         14  penalty.

         15                 Advancements in DNA research now

         16  allow lab technicians to identify precise genetic

         17  markers from bits of biological evidence, typically

         18  left at a crime scene, including sweat, saliva,

         19  hair, blood and skin tissue.

         20                 Many experts believe that DNA has

         21  become one of the most important crime solving tools

         22  since the development of fingerprinting nearly a

         23  century ago.

         24                 Clearly, advancements in DNA research

         25  can have a profound impact on the administration of
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          2  the death penalty. Changes in the matter in which

          3  the crime scene evidence is gathered and processed,

          4  combined with the accuracy of DNA testing, can

          5  ensure more than ever that the certainty of capital

          6  crime and the convictions.

          7                 The Committee, among other issues,

          8  plans to look at whether there are any legal

          9  barriers to pose conviction DNA testing in capital

         10  cases.

         11                 Resolution 1473 urges the United

         12  States Congress to pass HR 4162, a bill sponsored by

         13  representative Jessie Jackson, Jr., of Illinois.

         14                 This bill calls for a seven-year

         15  moratorium on all government-sponsored executions in

         16  the United States and urges Governor George Pataki

         17  to follow the lead of Governor George Ryan of

         18  Illinois and declare a moratorium in New York State.

         19                      HR 4162 Title, the Accuracy in

         20  Judicial Administration Act of 2000 lists its

         21  objective as follows: To ensure protection for the

         22  substantive due process rights of the innocent by

         23  providing a temporary moratorium on carrying out the

         24  death penalty to ensure that persons able to prove

         25  their innocence are not executed. We have many
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          2  individuals who wish to testify this afternoon, so I

          3  am going to limit the testimony to a five-minute

          4  period.

          5                 I am joined today by, on my left,

          6  Council Member Robles, the Majority Whip from

          7  Brooklyn, Council Member Michels from Manhattan,

          8  Council Member Perkins from Manhattan, and I will

          9  have a few more Council members join us as they

         10  finish up with some of their morning activities.

         11                 I am going to first ask a religious

         12  panel. Sergeant-At-Arms, we are going to need a

         13  couple of more chairs.

         14                 The Reverend Forbes, Jim Morgan, Ken

         15  Hoffarth, Rabbi Rubinstein, and Samuel Hirsch to

         16  come to the witness table.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Chairman,

         18  I would like to just make note of one or two things

         19  while the panel is coming together.

         20                 Number one --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Please do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: My

         23  appreciation to this Committee for allowing this

         24  Resolution 1493 to be brought forward and for the

         25  support that you have provided in not only bringing
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          2  it forward but also developing additional support

          3  throughout the Council.

          4                 As you know, I have an amended

          5  version of this resolution, 1493-A, which takes into

          6  consideration some changes that have been made with

          7  regard to bills sponsored by Reverend Jessie

          8  Jackson, particularly HR 4162 and HR 5236 and HR

          9  5237, which I would hope that ultimately becomes the

         10  resolution that is voted out of this Committee and

         11  would be appropriately addressed at some point

         12  during today's hearing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: We will have the

         14  staff review it and take it under consideration.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         17  Michels.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, thank

         19  you, Mr. Warden.

         20                 Chair Warden, first of all I want to

         21  express my appreciation in drafting the legislation

         22  and for holding this hearing, and I must tell you

         23  today, I have been a member of this Committee, or

         24  the mother Committee to this, for almost 24 years,

         25  and I can't think of a more prouder moment than when
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          2  I have attended a meeting of this Committee than

          3  today, taking up an issue which I think is of such

          4  vital significance, even though we may not have

          5  jurisdiction over it, that doesn't mean we shouldn't

          6  be speaking out on this issue.

          7                 As you know, I have been an opponent

          8  of the death penalty all my life, and I think what I

          9  am reading about and hearing about has more than

         10  justified that opposition.

         11                 So, I am very proud of you, I am very

         12  proud of this Committee, and I think what we are

         13  doing is extremely important and I should hope it is

         14  noticed not only here but other places so that we

         15  can do what has to be done and that is putting an

         16  end to this Medieval type of punishment. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The Chair thanks

         18  you for your support.

         19                 Gentlemen, if you would begin, please

         20  state your name for the record and then you can

         21  proceed with your testimony. I guess Reverend

         22  Forbes, we can begin with you.

         23                 REVEREND FORBES: Chairman Warden,

         24  Councilmen and women, fellow panelists and fellow

         25  citizens, I am James Forbes, Senior Minister at the
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          2  Riverside Church.

          3                 I am here to support the bill which

          4  is being introduced here in support of the bill that

          5  has been introduced by Mr. Jackson in the House of

          6  Representatives.

          7                 I believe that the social and

          8  political context always plays a most significant

          9  part in determining the level of fairness, which can

         10  be achieved in the Administration of criminal

         11  justice. Policies, arrest procedures, arraignment,

         12  trial and sentencing, all of these reflect general

         13  attitudes and deep-seated convictions of the public.

         14                 If there is already in the culture

         15  widespread prejudice on account of race or class,

         16  such discriminatory predispositions will have an

         17  inordinate impact on the proceedings no matter how

         18  conscientious the participants may be to ensure

         19  justice.

         20                 This understanding, of course, does

         21  not require the dismantling of our present system in

         22  general, flawed as it may be, by racism and class

         23  prejudice; however, we must be vigilant to weed out

         24  unfairness wherever we can. The extreme procedures

         25  of capital punishment cross the boundary of
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          2  civilized behavior. It presumes the possibility of

          3  justice towards the criminal when it has not yet

          4  dealt with the class criminality of a racist

          5  society. People die every day due to the inequities

          6  of health, education, housing and major human

          7  subsistence necessities. The causal relationship

          8  between unfair social conditions and predisposition

          9  to criminal behavior suggest that there should be

         10  some responsibility in the system to restrain the

         11  impulse to execute while we work to ensure a more

         12  just approach to peace and safety in the society.

         13  Therefore, I just lift up the following reasons why

         14  a moratorium makes moral sense.

         15                 First, and this sounds extreme to me,

         16  but it expresses how deeply I feel about it, killing

         17  people is playing God. One fool killing people does

         18  not call for another set of fools to continue the

         19  foolishness. The cycle of foolishness must end

         20  somewhere, why not with the criminal justice system

         21  itself.

         22                 Secondly, the death penalty does not

         23  really satisfy what some people feel when they have

         24  had crimes perpetrated against them, doesn't satisfy

         25  the longing to get back it does not really fulfill a
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          2  need for revenge, nor is the death penalty an

          3  effective deterrent. Institutions of death, even if

          4  they happen to be criminal justice organized, they

          5  absorb vast resources that could be used for better

          6  understanding and the reduction of causes of capital

          7  offenses. And my teacher, George Kelsie, taught this

          8  long years ago, that the logic of racism is

          9  genocide, and the components of racism already

         10  impose some form of death penalty on thousands of

         11  minorities day-by-day, little notice but of an

         12  accumulative effect they die more quickly because of

         13  that system. So, then it is an abomination, and we

         14  cannot scarcely afford to compound the present

         15  killing on account of a racist system by state

         16  sanction killing.

         17                 Evidence shows that the system that

         18  is involved in the death penalty values the lives of

         19  whites above that of blacks.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Please wrap up.

         21                 REVEREND FORBES: So then I would

         22  suggest that what we ought to do is, because unjust

         23  criminal justice practices reduce respect for the

         24  criminal justice system and poisons the cultural

         25  milieu in which it flourishes, and I am asking, and
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          2  this is again an extreme way of ending, that we

          3  recognize possibility, philosophically, of two kinds

          4  of criminals: One, the unofficial kind; and the

          5  other, systemic criminal impulses, and I am urging

          6  in the name of God that we at least back up from

          7  that procedure, try to get this thing straightened

          8  out to see, is there any way we can guarantee the

          9  death penalty can be fairly administered given these

         10  elements.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Before we proceed to the next, let me

         15  recognize Council Member Ronnie Eldridge from

         16  Manhattan who has joined with us, and Councilman

         17  James Oddo, from the Borough of Staten Island.

         18                 RABBI RUBINSTEIN:  Please pardon my

         19  somewhat hoarse voice, I hope I disseminate more

         20  wisdom than germs.

         21                 I am Rabbi Peter Rubinstein, I am the

         22  Senior Rabbi of Central Synagogue in New York City,

         23  Lexington Avenue and 55th Street.

         24                 Fortunately, we are here today

         25  discussing a proposed moratorium before we in New
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          2  York State have put any sentenced man or woman to

          3  death.

          4                 Unfortunately, our state has not

          5  executed anyone since the reinstatement of the death

          6  penalty, but it is not based on matters of principle

          7  but rather matters of legal circumstance, and thus,

          8  we note that the death chamber in this state can

          9  come active again.

         10                 To set a personal context for you, I

         11  am an absolute opponent of the death penalty, I

         12  cannot and do not want to imagine what it is like to

         13  send 2,000 volts through three electrodes attached

         14  to the cap on a man's head. I dare not imagine the

         15  gassing of a human being, or the hanging, or the

         16  loud sound of lungs being emptied by air by lethal

         17  injection before poison stops the heart, as I

         18  understand this would be the preferred method of

         19  state killing in New York.

         20                 I do not want the state to do this on

         21  my behalf. I take note of how families of murder

         22  victims would desire vengeance and I am sympathetic

         23  to them. Fortunately, governments do not and should

         24  not respond as an individual might, and react to all

         25  instincts of all citizens.
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          2                 I believe that the death penalty is

          3  wrong from my Jewish tradition which already over

          4  2,000 years ago abhorred the death penalty and all

          5  but made it impossible.

          6                 Whatever our religious backgrounds,

          7  we should feel compelled anguish at the possibility,

          8  indeed the probability that we will put an innocent

          9  person to death, or more likely, put to death an

         10  individual who because of his/her economic racial or

         11  demographic circumstance, or those of his or her

         12  victim, has been destined by the realities of our

         13  legal and judicial system to be uniquely on the

         14  track leading to the death chamber.

         15                 There are too many examples of

         16  mistakes having been made in this nation. For every

         17  seven people executed in this country, one person on

         18  death-row has been found wrongfully condemned and

         19  convicted.

         20                 They form a unique and troubling

         21  alumni group and must serve as witness to how wrong

         22  we can be.

         23                 A New York Times editorial commented,

         24  "The exonerations are not a sign that the system

         25  works. The innocence of many death-row prisoners was
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          2  discovered only because outsiders went to great time

          3  and expense to investigate when the courts would

          4  not."

          5                 A system that requires college

          6  students to provide justice as a class project

          7  cannot be called functional. A system that holds the

          8  balance of a man's life in the flipping of a tape,

          9  as it was the case with Walter McMillian, cannot be

         10  called reasonable.

         11                 Without and perhaps even with the

         12  resolution, the penalty will kill innocent men or

         13  women. And the death penalty, as you have heard, is

         14  abundantly unfair and unjust. It is discriminatory.

         15                 When Supreme Court Justice Harry

         16  Blackmun spoke at my congregation in 1993, he

         17  confided that he was certain that more than a few

         18  innocent people had been executed in this country.

         19  Blackmun had shamelessly supported the death penalty

         20  but 1994 he officially went on record reversing

         21  himself. He wrote: "... I feel morally and

         22  intellectually obligated simply to concede that the

         23  death penalty experiment has failed."

         24                 Blackmun knew that capital punishment

         25  was racially discriminatory, inconsistently applied
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          2  and fraught with constitutional danger. There are

          3  matters that will come before this body in the

          4  legislatures of our state and nation that will

          5  determine the quality of our society and demonstrate

          6  our convictions and commitments to the principles we

          7  espouse. Few discussions will impact whether we

          8  become murderers.

          9                 To my way of thinking, taking the

         10  life of a person in the death chamber of our state

         11  is murder, even if it is costumed by the niceties of

         12  public ritual or judicial system.

         13                 Taking the life of an innocent

         14  person, whether by the hand of the criminal, or the

         15  hand of the state, is a heinous sin. A system that

         16  straps people to a gurney while life-ending poisons

         17  are injected by our agents because of their skin

         18  color, the inadequacy of their representation, lack

         19  of financial resources, or because they happen to be

         20  in a particular jurisdiction is unjust, unkind,

         21  inhumane and blatantly contrary to the foundations

         22  of this nation, and the principles upon which we

         23  base our community existence. Therefore, we should

         24  not. We must support this resolution calling for a

         25  moratorium on government-sponsored executions.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          4  much, for your testimony.

          5                 MR. HOFFARTH: Mr. Chairman, and

          6  distinguished members of the City Council, my name

          7  is Ken Hoffarth, I am the Director of the Office for

          8  Criminal Justice for the Archdiocese of New York,

          9  representing today Archbishop Eagan, who

         10  unfortunately is in Washington, D.C. on another

         11  commitment, and sends his regrets.

         12                 I am here to testify before the

         13  Council in favor of the City Council's resolution

         14  against the death penalty and to present the

         15  teaching of the Catholic Church in this regard.

         16                 The teaching of the Catholic Church

         17  on capital punishment is rooted, in our belief, in

         18  the dignity of every human life.

         19                 In recent years, our Holy Father Pope

         20  - John Paul, II - has made this point abundantly

         21  clear, as regards to society's use of the death

         22  penalty.

         23                 In his 1995 Encyclical, "Evangelium

         24  Vitae" {The Gospel of Life}, the Holy Father

         25  reaffirms the purpose of punishment is to "redress"
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          2  the "violation of personal and social rights" caused

          3  by the offender. By "imposing on the offender an

          4  adequate punishment for the crime as a condition for

          5  the offender to regain the exercise of his or her

          6  freedom", the Public Authority "fulfills the purpose

          7  of defending public order & ensuring people's

          8  safety", while at the same time "offering the

          9  offender a incentive to help to change his or her

         10  behavior." {E.V.56}. The Holy Father finishes this

         11  statement by quoting the Catechism which states: If

         12  bloodless means are sufficient to defend human lives

         13  against an aggressor and to protect public order and

         14  the safety of persons, public authority should limit

         15  itself to such means, because they better correspond

         16  to the concrete conditions of the common good and

         17  are more in conformity to the dignity of the human

         18  person". {Catechism- 2267}.

         19                 More recently, on his trip to St.

         20  Louis in January of 1999, the Holy Father elaborated

         21  his opposition to the Capital Punishment. He did so

         22  within the context of calling all followers of

         23  Christ to participate in a "new evangelization" of

         24  the modern world. In this evangelization, the Holy

         25  Father called all Christians to be "unconditionally
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          2  pro-life", to "proclaim, celebrate and serve the

          3  Gospel of Life in every situation".

          4                 The Holy Father went on to say, "...

          5  A sign of hope is the increasing recognition that

          6  the dignity of human life must never be taken away,

          7  even in the case of someone who has done great evil.

          8  Modern society has the means of protecting itself,

          9  without definitely denying criminals the chance of

         10  reform. I renew my appeal... For a consensus to end

         11  the death penalty, which is both cruel &

         12  unnecessary."

         13                 For the past 25 years the Catholic

         14  Bishops of the United States have been calling all

         15  people of goodwill to do just that: To work to end

         16  the death penalty in our land. At the root of the

         17  Bishops' appeal regarding the death penalty is their

         18  overriding concern and "respect for all human life

         19  and opposition to violence in our society".

         20                 In their "Good Friday Appeal to end

         21  the Death Penalty" issued on April 2nd of 1999, the

         22  National Conference of Catholic Bishops, among other

         23  things stated that in the United States the death

         24  penalty is a phenomenon that "is often applied

         25  unfairly and in racially biased ways", and
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          2  perpetuates "a cycle of violence" which promotes not

          3  peace in society but a "sense of vengeance in our

          4  culture."

          5                 Three months ago the Catholic Bishops

          6  of New York State completed and issued their

          7  statement on Criminal Justice, "Restoring all to the

          8  Fullness of Life." In that they state, "No human

          9  being is beyond God's redemptive mercy. Yet the

         10  death penalty offers retribution rather than mercy,

         11  and allows no possibility of rehabilitation and

         12  restoration. Studies show that capital punishment

         13  does not act as a deterrent to violent crime, and

         14  thus does not enhance public safety."

         15                 "The death penalty endangers innocent

         16  people. Following the release of inmates wrongly

         17  sentenced to death, Illinois recently became the

         18  first state to enact a moratorium on executions. A

         19  growing number of states are now considering such an

         20  approach. It does not facilitate fair and equal

         21  treatment. The death penalty is imposed primarily on

         22  the poor and minorities, in widely disproportionate

         23  numbers. New York State must find effective

         24  alternatives that do not further brutalize society

         25  through state-sanctioned violence. We urge once
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          2  again, in the strongest terms, repeal of New York

          3  State's death penalty statute. In the interim, we

          4  urge a moratorium on executions so that no death

          5  will result from the 1995 Death Penalty Law; and as

          6  a first step toward developing non-lethal means of

          7  protecting society from violent crime."

          8                 On behalf of the Archdiocese of New

          9  York and all concerned New Yorkers, we thank you for

         10  the opportunity for these hearings and inviting our

         11  testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         13  much for your testimony.

         14                 We have been joined by Council Member

         15  Madeline Provenzano, from the Borough of the Bronx.

         16  And Council Member Christine Quinn, from the Borough

         17  of Manhattan.

         18                 MR. HIRSCH: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is Samuel Hirsch, I am the Chair Emeritus of the

         20  Greater New York Labor Religion Coalition.  Unlike

         21  Stan Michels, who said he has always been against

         22  the death penalty, I am a convert. And as a child I

         23  remember hearing "an eye or an eye", a "tooth for a

         24  tooth", and"a life for a life", it sounded very

         25  reasonable. The only thing I didn't like about this
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          2  information was the anti-Semitism I faced every day.

          3  But after World War II and I came out of the

          4  service, I became involved in the Civil Rights

          5  Movement, and I started learning that one of the

          6  blatant form of racism was the massive execution

          7  using the legal death penalty of blacks, and that

          8  was the turning point on that particular issue. And

          9  I have always found that the most brutal people in

         10  society, the racists are usually the ones that favor

         11  the death penalty.

         12                 I also remember that very horrible

         13  period when the Rockefeller Law was passed, there

         14  was a climate in this country, I guess I would call

         15  it, I guess it was racist McCarthyism. You couldn't

         16  talk against the death penalty, you couldn't talk

         17  against extreme penalties for minor offenses. The

         18  climate is changing. Yesterday's New York Times had

         19  two articles that I thought were interesting. One,

         20  the article about the death penalty being discussed

         21  in Queens, and I noticed that DA Brown took a very

         22  strong position, he was calling for the death

         23  penalty even though he morally is against it. I have

         24  a little problem with how he can do that.

         25                 I also know that Charlie Hynes in
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          2  Brooklyn has stated the same thing. I am beginning

          3  to say, why can't the politicians resist this

          4  horrible trend towards being tough on crime and

          5  support this kind of thing.

          6                 I think the climate has changed, and

          7  I think the discussion that the Times had about the

          8  Pataki bill, that he is talking about now, I am

          9  sure, and I have to give you my bias, with Pataki

         10  supporting a bill like this, the climate in America

         11  has changed, and that is why he is doing it.

         12                 So, I really believe that there is a

         13  climate that's different, and I certainly heard the

         14  three speakers before, Reverend Forbes, Rabbi

         15  Rubinstein and Archdiocese spokesperson, I think

         16  they made a wonderful clear short statement on the

         17  moral issues involved, and I am very pleased that in

         18  my Labor Religion Coalition, I am the labor side,

         19  that our religious have always been pushing this

         20  issue. And I will be honest with you, as a trade

         21  union leader, I rarely took a public position

         22  because I felt our people, especially when I was in

         23  the building today, our people were for the death

         24  penalty, and as a spokesperson for a group I didn't

         25  feel it proper to take that position.
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          2                 I honestly believe, and I feel it

          3  every day, that the majority of trade union leaders

          4  in New York support a moratorium on the death

          5  penalty, and I would hope this Committee would join

          6  that thing very strongly.

          7                 I think that is my main point, and

          8  that is, that there is a political climate that's

          9  different. I think we can add into this debate, that

         10  you don't have to be a bleeding heart liberal to be

         11  against the death penalty, you have got to be a

         12  heart-caring person, and I strongly support the

         13  moratorium.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 MR. MORGAN: Good afternoon. My name

         18  is Jim Morgan. I am a member of the Brooklyn Monthly

         19  Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends, or

         20  Quakers, and I want to thank you very much for this

         21  opportunity to talk this afternoon.

         22                 I am a constituent of Council Member

         23  Lopez, but I have been active for almost six years.

         24  Every week we have vigil to end the death penalty

         25  that we hold in front of the State Supreme Court
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          2  Building in downtown Brooklyn, and what I would like

          3  to do today is to give you a report on, a specific

          4  report on how the climate is in fact changing, the

          5  attitude is changing.

          6                 When we began this vigil, which in

          7  fact we held for a period of three months, we held

          8  every day during the first trial in Brooklyn, the

          9  Dale Harris trial, but when we began this vigil, we

         10  not uncommonly would have people come up to us, men

         11  need I say, and literally scream at us, saying which

         12  is sort of a catch-all phrase, "kill them all".

         13                 Now-a-days it is very rare that we

         14  hear that, and when we hear it, it is usually some

         15  guy who is walking about 50 to 60 feet away from us,

         16  going in the other direction, who leans over, looks

         17  over his shoulder and says "kill them all" almost as

         18  though he is ashamed of himself for saying it.

         19                 And on the other hand, we discovered

         20  that the average person going by, and remember, we

         21  have a rather rich group of people passing us,

         22  richly varied, I mean, because we have the court

         23  workers, we have the people serving on juries, we

         24  have the people who are in downtown Brooklyn on

         25  various forms of business, we find an increasing

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            26

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  sense of enthusiasm for what we are doing.

          3                 We offer two petitions to the people

          4  who pass by, and the first one is the one we have

          5  had since the beginning and it's a petition that we

          6  send periodically to the Governor and to the

          7  District Attorney. Mr. Hynes, and to the leaders of

          8  the State Assembly on Senate, in which we are asking

          9  that the death penalty be ended.

         10                 That is the Quaker position after

         11  all, because for 350 years, since the beginning we

         12  have been against murder in any form, and I could

         13  state that by quoting from our handout, which says

         14  we stand to end the death penalty because we believe

         15  that murder is wrong, whether the murderer is an

         16  individual or the state.

         17                 So, that is our position. It's a very

         18  solid one, very difficult one for some people. But

         19  even so, we have gathered about 6,000 signatures

         20  over the time that we have been doing that. For

         21  about a year we have been offering the moratorium

         22  2000 petition, which I am sure you will hear more

         23  about from people representing that movement but we

         24  find that every one who stops to sign one petition

         25  wants to sign the other one. And literally we have
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          2  lines of people, even if it is raining, people are

          3  lined up wanting to sign our petition.

          4                 So, I am here to help you understand

          5  that in our personal experience we have seen an

          6  increasing sense of the awareness of the injustice

          7  of the death penalty, and, therefore, the time for

          8  enacting a moratorium is right.

          9                 We thank you very much for

         10  considering doing it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         12  much. I am going to allow my colleagues to ask

         13  questions, but please be mindful of the fact that we

         14  have a long line of witnesses and I want to make

         15  sure that everyone who wants to testify will be

         16  heard today, I am prepared to stay the duration.

         17                 Council Member Perkins.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         19  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 I just wanted to take a quick moment

         21  to extend my appreciation to the panel, this

         22  extraordinary panel, ecumenical panel, I guess you

         23  would call it, that covers the range of faith-based

         24  support that this movement has, and the fact that

         25  they have taken so much time to come out and share
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          2  that is very much appreciated.

          3                 You have honored our institution and

          4  really given us a moment to be proud that you have

          5  taken such time.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          8  much, gentlemen, for your testimony. I think we have

          9  established the moral climate through our ecumenical

         10  panel, and now I would like to bring the legal panel

         11  to the table.

         12                 James Lieberman, Barry Schech, Donna

         13  Lieberman, Marina Sheriff from ACLU, Ronald Taback,

         14  Elaine Jones and Russel Neufeld.

         15                 Why don't I just ask you to grab a

         16  chair, and I will call you up next, because it seems

         17  we are running out of space.

         18                 Okay, if you would proceed from the

         19  left, the young lady. State your name for the

         20  record, and you may begin.

         21                 MS. JONES: Ladies and gentlemen of

         22  the City Council, my name is Elaine R. Jones, and I

         23  am President and Direct Council of the NAACP Legal

         24  Defense and Educational Fund. We are located in New

         25  York City, in the Tribecca area, and we are the
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          2  nation's first Civil Rights law firm. We are founded

          3  by Justice Thergood Marshall, and we have been in

          4  the business of looking at, litigating against,

          5  realizing the racial injustice of the death penalty

          6  for 60 years.

          7                 When I came to the Legal Defense Fund

          8  as a young lawyer 30 years ago, my first assignment

          9  was representing death-row inmates in the south.

         10                 I spent time traveling throughout

         11  Alabama, Georgia, Florida, representing

         12  African-American men, who were on death row

         13  disproportionately for the crime of rape.

         14                 As this experience has shown me, the

         15  injustice and unfairness of the death penalty,

         16  especially in the face of the innocence of my

         17  clients, the death penalty is used as a tool in

         18  these states and throughout the country of racial

         19  oppression.

         20                 Lawyers for the Legal Defense Fund in

         21  litigating these cases in the 1930s, and have

         22  continued up to and including the present. The death

         23  penalty machinery that we have used is flawed, there

         24  is police and prosecutorial misconduct, there is

         25  incompetent counsel, there is insufficient funding
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          2  for the defense, there is suppressed exculpatory

          3  evidence, false confessions, judicial bias, flimsy

          4  evidence and I have seen it all. It is time for us

          5  to put a moratorium on the sinking of this penalty,

          6  until we can rid it of its racial bias.

          7                 Just as Blackmun said, and he, for

          8  many years, for 20 years he was a proponent of the

          9  death penalty, Maxwell versus Bishop, when he was in

         10  the lower court, and he tried to change the process

         11  whereby the death penalty was imposed so that it

         12  would rid itself of its racial impetus.

         13                 But, finally, he said, after over 25

         14  years of dealing with the death penalty, Justice

         15  Blackmun said, "from this day forward" -- this was

         16  in 1994 -- "From this day forward I no longer shall

         17  tinker with the machinery of death.""For more than

         18  20 years", he said, "I have endeavored, indeed I

         19  have struggled, along with the majority of this

         20  court, to develop procedural and substantive rules

         21  that will lend more than the mere appearance of

         22  fairness to the death penalty". He said, "Rather

         23  than continue to coddle the Court's delusion that

         24  the desired level as fairness has been achieved, and

         25  need for regulation eviscerated, I feel morally and
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          2  intellectually obligated simply to concede that the

          3  death penalty experiment has failed.

          4                 I conclude with these thoughts to the

          5  City Council: The question of racial discrimination

          6  and capital synosy, involve the conscious or

          7  unconscious racial bias of the key decision-makers

          8  in the system: The prosecutor who decides whether or

          9  not to seek the death penalty; the grandjurors who

         10  decide whether or not to indict on a potentially

         11  capital charge; the juror who decides whether to

         12  convict a capital or lesser charge, and the racial

         13  bias and discrimination effect every aspect of the

         14  case, whether the key players, police investigators,

         15  judge, prosecutor, defense attorney or personnel are

         16  white or people of color; how the police conduct

         17  their investigation, what they are willing to do to

         18  extract the confession, whether they believe the

         19  defendant's story, pursue other leads, believe the

         20  defendant's alibi or other witnesses; how mental

         21  health experts evaluate the defendant, and whether

         22  they bring cultural biases to their assessment.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Can you sum up?

         24                 MS. JONES: How the Defendant relates

         25  to his lawyers; for all of these reasons and others,
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          2  I congratulate this Council for holding this

          3  hearing, and I urge you, I urge you to pass this

          4  resolution putting a moratorium on the seeking of

          5  the penalty of death.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you for

          7  your testimony.

          8                 Barry Schech, one of this country's

          9  leading DNA attorneys and experts, please proceed.

         10                 MR. SCHECH: Thank you. My name is

         11  Barry Schech, I am Professor of Law at the Benjamin

         12  N. Cardozo School of Law here in New York City for

         13  the last 23 years, along with my colleague Peter

         14  Neufeld, we run an organization called the Innocence

         15  Project which uses DNA testing in an effort to

         16  exonerate people that have been wrongly convicted of

         17  crimes. Recently Peter and I wrote a book with Jim

         18  Dwyer, a columnist with the New York Daily News

         19  called Actual Innocence, which profiles these DNA

         20  exonerations, and more importantly, the causes of

         21  wrongful conviction. Our book was published in

         22  February of 2000 and since its publication, at a

         23  rate of greater than more than one out of 18 days

         24  there has been new DNA exonerations. All together

         25  now we have 81 in the United States, and there are
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          2  ten of these individuals are people that were

          3  sentenced to death.

          4                 I am the first to tell you that DNA

          5  testing is not a panacea, and it will not prevent

          6  the conviction and execution of the innocent, even

          7  if we have, frankly we have here in New York State,

          8  legislation that would enable everybody who could

          9  use DNA testing to prove their innocence have an

         10  opportunity to do so.

         11                 What DNA exonerations are showing us

         12  most importantly, are the other causes of wrongful

         13  convictions. Frankly, that is what our book is

         14  about, that is what our work is about now, mistaken

         15  eyewitness identification, false confessions, police

         16  and prosecutorial misconduct, most important in many

         17  ways, bad lawyering. Nothing guarantees the

         18  conviction of an innocent person faster than a

         19  lawyer that is not adequately funded to do the job,

         20  or a lawyer that, frankly, in terms of an unjust

         21  sentence of death, under the laws as they stand out,

         22  cannot adequately put on a case at a penalty phase

         23  or approve mitigation.

         24                 So, DNA is important because in this

         25  extraordinary number of cases, it shows us the other
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          2  causes of wrongful convictions.

          3                 There is only going to be about 20,

          4  25 percent of the serious felony cases or capital

          5  cases where there will even be biological evidence

          6  available to test, so you can't comfort yourself, no

          7  one can, with the idea that DNA is a panacea. That

          8  is number one.

          9                 Point number two that DNA I think

         10  reveals, I came last week from Texas, and there is a

         11  case that I hope captures everyone's attention. A

         12  young man named Chris Achowa (phonetic), who in 1988

         13  was brought down to a police precinct and a

         14  detective, now a lieutenant, named Hector Polanco

         15  interrogated him, a young man, who had no criminal

         16  record, was an honors high school student,

         17  interrogated him brutally for 12 hours saying that

         18  he must have been involved in the rape, murder and

         19  robbery of a young woman named Nancy Depriest in an

         20  Austin, Texas Pizza Hut.

         21                 After this brutal interrogation for

         22  12 hours, they told him his 17-year-old friend named

         23  Richard Dansiger had just ratted him out and said he

         24  committed the murder, which wasn't true.

         25                 At this point Mr. Achowa said well
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          2  maybe Dansiger did it. They put him in a Holiday

          3  Inn, they interrogated him for another 48 hours.

          4  They showed him pictures of the death chamber in

          5  Texas. They showed him pictures of the autopsy

          6  scene. By Monday morning he had issued a single

          7  spaced confession that he signed which caused an

          8  indictment of him and Dansiger to capital murder.

          9  They had threatened to put him into a jail and told

         10  him he would be fresh meat and he would be raped

         11  anally. This is the kind of pressure they put on

         12  poor Mr. Achowa.

         13                 Eventually, and this is the use of

         14  the death penalty, as a weapon to bring about false

         15  confessions. Under threat of being executed, no

         16  doubt he would be dead as I stand here today in the

         17  State of Texas, if he had not pled guilty and agreed

         18  to testify in exchange for a life sentence against

         19  Richard Dansiger, Chris Achowa would be dead. He did

         20  so testify. Mr. Dansiger and he both received life

         21  sentences. Mr. Dansiger was subsequently beaten by

         22  inmates in jail, he is now a vegetable, he is

         23  virtually brain dead.

         24                 Eight years later an inmate named

         25  Akeem Marino (phonetic) wrote a letter to the Austin
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          2  Police Department saying he had had a religious

          3  conversion and he confessed to the rape, murder and

          4  robbery of Nancy Depriest. Initially he told them

          5  "go to El Paso, Texas, you will find the keys from

          6  the murder victim, you will find the currency bag,

          7  you will find the murder weapon right there in my

          8  mother's home. The police went there. They found it,

          9  and still nothing happened. They didn't even inform

         10  Achowa and Dansiger that this confession had

         11  occurred.

         12                 Then in 1998, Mr. Marino wrote yet

         13  another letter, series of letters, including one to

         14  President George W. Bush, then the Governor of

         15  Texas, saying, Governor, Dear Governor Bush, sir,

         16  please tell these two men or their families that I

         17  confessed to this crime and nothing has been done

         18  about it. And still they weren't informed.

         19                 Eventually an Innocence Project at

         20  the University of Wisconsin Law School and ourselves

         21  got involved in this case, DNA testing was done, and

         22  last week Mr. Achowa walked out of jail with a

         23  finding of actual innocence.

         24                 They are still reviewing whether or

         25  not this police officer should be charged, I hope he
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          2  is. Full investigation ought to be had. But this

          3  case is extraordinary. Think about it. A man pled

          4  guilty in exchange for a life sentence. No one would

          5  have ever found this. It shakes every prosecutor

          6  that hears about it.

          7                 So, DNA testing alone is not going to

          8  solve these problems, but it gives us a window to

          9  see what the problems are.

         10                 I urge this body to join its voice

         11  with other municipalities that have come out and

         12  made a strong statement about at least a moratorium

         13  on the death penalty. It's important that people

         14  hear you. I can assure you already that the Governor

         15  of Texas has responded to the Achowa exonerations

         16  and others in his state, by adopting an alternative

         17  of life without parole, the juries will now hear

         18  about that, the Governor of Texas has proposed it,

         19  and other innocence legislation.

         20                 You know, in this state, we have in

         21  the Capital Defenders Program, probably the model

         22  for the country in some respects. The Rolls Royce,

         23  it's very expensive. Yet, at the same time, the

         24  State of New York, in terms of its reimbursement,

         25  and the City, of lawyers in court-appointed cases,
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          2  ordinary felonies pays people, what is it? You know,

          3  $15 an hour out of court, $40 an hour in court, it

          4  is I think 49th in the country, and there is no

          5  question that the entire criminal justice system in

          6  this City and state suffers because we do not

          7  reimburse these lawyers and they are not doing the

          8  job, it's that simple.

          9                 It doesn't make any economic sense to

         10  continue with this system, even if you assume for

         11  the sake of argument, that we can fairly and

         12  accurately make guilt or innocence determinations,

         13  or even determinations as to who deserves death and

         14  who doesn't. And we all know in our state, and that

         15  is why we ought to speak out about it here in the

         16  City, that if you are going to be arrested or

         17  indicted for a capital offense, in an area where

         18  people are more pro-death, it is going to be treated

         19  completely differently than it will in other areas,

         20  and there is an inherent arbitrariness to this that

         21  shouldn't be tolerated.

         22                 So, the bottom line is, what you do

         23  and say here in regard to the death penalty is not

         24  important, it will be noticed, it will add to a

         25  political movement which across the country public

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            39

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  opinion polls are showing us, if you ask people real

          3  life without parole versus the death penalty, it is

          4  virtually split down the middle. And, so, I think

          5  this movement is gaining, it is going to survive the

          6  election cycle, which I just saw in the State of

          7  Texas around the Achowa case, it is going to be on

          8  the national agenda in years to come, and eventually

          9  people will look back 20 years from now and are

         10  going to be saying what were we thinking in

         11  continuing capital punishment, and they will look

         12  back to all of you and they will say, New York City

         13  Council helped pave the way.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Schech.

         17                 MS. LIEBERMAN: My name is Donna

         18  Lieberman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Press the button.

         20                 MS. LIEBERMAN: My name is Donna

         21  Lieberman. I am the Interim Executive Director of

         22  the New York Civil Liberties Union.

         23                 The NYCLU has over 25,000 members

         24  throughout the state. We oppose the death penalty

         25  under all circumstances, it is cruel, it is
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          2  barbaric, and has no place in a civilized society.

          3  It should be eliminated. I want to thank you for

          4  holding these hearings and for your recognition of

          5  the need to pay immediate attention to the very

          6  serious issues raised by the implementation of the

          7  death penalty, both in New York and nationwide.

          8                 Whether you agree with the NYCLU

          9  position or not, there is no question that the

         10  situation in New York and nationwide with regard to

         11  the death penalty cries out for a moratorium.

         12                 Six people have already been

         13  sentenced to death in New York's death penalty

         14  statute. All of those sentences are currently under

         15  appeal. We should not wait until someone is killed

         16  before moving to address the problems raised by the

         17  implementation of capital punishment.

         18                 The New York Statute has a critically

         19  important provision that requires that no defendant

         20  be executed until it is determined that the statute

         21  is being administered fairly. In light of that

         22  provision, and substantial preliminary evidence, the

         23  statute is not indeed operating fairly in New York.

         24                 We have already called upon the New

         25  York Court of Appeals in the Harris case, not to
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          2  authorize any executions until far more work is done

          3  to assure the fair operation of the statute. These

          4  same concerns support the resolution now before the

          5  Council.

          6                 It's increasingly apparent that the

          7  often standardless discretion in administering the

          8  death penalty or in deciding whether to go for it,

          9  as in New York, when given to individual

         10  prosecutors, results in unequal application.

         11  Problems of racial bias have been documented and

         12  have permeated the system for years. Gender

         13  inequalities, economic inequalities and geographic

         14  disparities with regard to who the defendants and

         15  the victims are have also been documented.

         16                 In addition, a recent study reported

         17  that in 68 percent of the cases in which an appeal

         18  was taken in a death sentence, it was overturned,

         19  either because of questions about the fairness of

         20  the sentence or questions of the guilt of the

         21  defendant.

         22                 New York should not anticipate

         23  immunity from these problems. We have 62 different

         24  district attorneys around the state, each of whom

         25  makes the decision about whether to seek the death
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          2  penalty based on his or her own standards, and we

          3  don't know what they are. There are no statutory or

          4  judicial criteria governing these prosecutorial

          5  decisions, yes, it is time for a moratorium.

          6                 And New York has a history, we all

          7  know that those who do not learn from history are

          8  condemned to repeat it. Well, let's take a look at

          9  New York's history. We have a deeply troubling one.

         10                 A 1987 study published in the

         11  Stanford Law Review reported that between 1905 and

         12  1974 New York executed more innocent people than any

         13  other state in the country. Now that New York has a

         14  death penalty statute, let's not throw in the ranks

         15  of Texas.

         16                 It is intolerable to contemplate that

         17  we will execute even one more person.

         18                 Just a brief comment on the DNA

         19  issue. We support the right of those convicted in

         20  capital crimes to request and receive DNA testing,

         21  of evidence that might exonerate them or might have

         22  cast sufficient doubt to lead to a different

         23  verdict.

         24                 DNA testing, as Barry has so

         25  eloquently spoken about, can provide important
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          2  evidence tending to show the guilt or innocence of a

          3  particular accused individual.

          4                 It is important, however, to bear in

          5  mind the use of DNA as evidence for or against the

          6  particular suspect in a particular crime is very

          7  different from databanking of DNA of individuals

          8  without individualized suspicion. Let's use it to

          9  set the innocent free and not to keep a government

         10  profile of everybody's intimate personal records.

         11                 Thank you. I managed to beat the

         12  clock, and my testimony is on behalf of the NYCLU,

         13  and Marina Sheriff, whose name was mentioned, but in

         14  the interest of time just one.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Before we proceed with the next

         18  witness, I just wanted to check with my colleagues

         19  to see if there are any questions that you may have

         20  had?

         21                 Well, I have one. Currently New York

         22  State limits post conviction DNA testing to

         23  defendants convicted prior to January 1st, 1996. Do

         24  any of you have an idea as to the reason behind

         25  limiting this post conviction DNA testing?
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          2                 MR. SCHECH: Well, I think there was

          3  supposed to be an amendment to change that so that

          4  we can be assured that people that were convicted

          5  prior to 1996 get access to the evidence for

          6  purposes of DNA testing. And I should say that New

          7  York was the first state, Illinois the second, to

          8  adopt these post-conviction DNA statutes, and now we

          9  have been joined by California, Oklahoma and Arizona

         10  that have reasonably good statutes, and it is not a

         11  coincidence that New York and Illinois have the

         12  largest total of post conviction DNA exonerations of

         13  any two states in the country out of the 81 I

         14  mentioned.

         15                 So, I think that the way it is being

         16  treated under the law is that if you are convicted

         17  prior to 1996, people are, in theory, the courts are

         18  giving the maximums.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The problem area

         20  is that people that are convicted after 1996, and

         21  having a difficult time in getting post conviction

         22  DNA in, the reason being that many of the judges are

         23  saying, well, you had your opportunity at the first

         24  trial, why wasn't it brought up then?

         25                 MR. SCHECH: I don't think that they
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          2  are properly interpreted. I think that the statute

          3  would not create a due diligence bar under New York

          4  law, because we are always the state that has

          5  allowed newly discovered evidence of innocence, one

          6  of only six. So, I think the concern that you raise

          7  is a significant one, and I would hope that the

          8  courts wouldn't interpret the failure to get a DNA

          9  test because a lawyer didn't do the job against the

         10  inmate, and I think there is a New York precedent in

         11  the case law to prevent that.

         12                 MR. NEUFELD: Can I also respond to

         13  that?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Sure. State your

         15  name, please.

         16                 MR. NEUFELD: Russell Neufeld.

         17                 One of the problems in New York is

         18  that the law not only covers people who were

         19  convicted prior to '96, but it is only post

         20  conviction. That is, it doesn't give a right to

         21  people who are on trial who are facing charges for

         22  the first time to have DNA testing, and we have had

         23  problems in New York, even in death penalty cases,

         24  with judges not allowing defense lawyers to hire DNA

         25  experts where it was clearly called for by the
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          2  evidence.

          3                 So, just dealing with it in post

          4  conviction, while it's obviously wonderful and

          5  better than every other state except Illinois, it is

          6  still clearly not good enough.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Any other

          8  questions?

          9                 Okay, Christine first. Council Member

         10  Quinn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Donna, in your

         12  data breakdown where you spoke about gender, do you

         13  have any information about sexual orientation of the

         14  women?

         15                 MS. LIEBERMAN: No, we don't. We don't

         16  have that data.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Because there

         18  is, as I am sure you know, in the lesbian and gay

         19  community, for some time there has been the belief

         20  that although we don't particularly have a

         21  significant amount of data that there is a greater

         22  percentage of women who are lesbians who are put to

         23  death or have the death penalty brought against

         24  them.

         25                 MS. LIEBERMAN: We don't have that
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          2  data for New York.

          3                 I think the important thing for New

          4  York is that the data is not being considered in

          5  evaluating whether the death penalty is being

          6  implemented fairly, and that is a serious problem.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

          8  add, it is more of a statement than a question to

          9  add to that point. Prior to joining the City Council

         10  I was a crime victims advocate, and the group that I

         11  was the director of, the New York City Gay and

         12  Lesbian Anti-Violence Project, took a position

         13  during my tenure against the death penalty, which is

         14  somewhat of a typical position for a crime victims

         15  group. I think what you just said is very important

         16  because our goal there really was to make sure that

         17  the law served people who were lesbian and gay who

         18  were victims, and we believe that if the law

         19  couldn't be applied fairly, whether it was for the

         20  person who was the defendant or the person who was

         21  the victim, then the law on any level would never be

         22  able to be fair, and I actually think that the

         23  choice that District Attorney Hynes made of the

         24  first case that he chose to bring for the death

         25  penalty, which eventually a deal was cut that didn't
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          2  go all the way, really demonstrates how the law can

          3  be used, in the case of the gay man who was alleged

          4  to have murdered another gay man, and we contended

          5  that that case was chosen as the first case because

          6  the defendant was a gay man, a hustler, a very

          7  unlikeable character, and that the District Attorney

          8  chose that case as a possibly better PR spin than

          9  choosing, quite frankly, an African-American man,

         10  and sure enough, case two and three that he chose

         11  were young African-American men.

         12                 So, I just say that today because I

         13  think also there is a crime victims perspective in

         14  this, because what crime victims really want is

         15  justice, and if the wrong person is incarcerated or,

         16  God forbid, put to death, then there really isn't

         17  justice -- if there isn't justice in that case then

         18  there is never going to be for any of the victims.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         21  Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 This question is I guess for Mr.

         25  Schech, or anyone on the panel who would like to
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          2  answer it. I don't doubt -- let me just say for the

          3  folks in the audience, let me put this in context, I

          4  am the republican on the Committee, but I don't

          5  doubt that there are injustices occurring.

          6                 My question to Mr. Schech is, the

          7  genesis of these injustices are overt acts of

          8  racism, affirmative acts against black and Latinos,

          9  or is it more, and the divide simply of economics -

         10  poor people don't get justice and rich people do?

         11  And, unfortunately, disproportionately more blacks

         12  and Latinos find themselves without the economic

         13  capabilities? I understand it is falling down along

         14  the lines of race, but is there a more basic chasm

         15  that we have to overcome?

         16                 And aren't you, with all due respect,

         17  considering your work in the Simpson case, aren't

         18  you an example that justice can, quote, be achieved

         19  for black people, white people, green people, if

         20  they have the economic resources?

         21                 So, my question is, is it simply come

         22  down to even more race than a matter of economics,

         23  and poor folks out there who can't afford, and you

         24  testified and some other folks testified about the

         25  poor lawyering, isn't that the basic divide we have
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          2  in this country?

          3                 MR. SCHECH: Well, I think you are

          4  right, it is both, obviously. You know, we find,

          5  incidently, in these 81 DNA exonerations an

          6  extraordinary number, something approaching 80

          7  percent, where it was a black defendant who was

          8  convicted wrongfully of having either raped or

          9  committed a rape murder of a white victim, which is

         10  stastically about the worst situation you can be in.

         11  Race obviously is a factor that aggravates all the

         12  other causes of wrongful convictions, and of course

         13  it has to do with how much money you have, and the

         14  amount of money you have determines how much justice

         15  you get in America, not just in the City of New

         16  York, but all across the country.

         17                 So, that is true without a doubt.

         18                 But I actually think that the

         19  response, frankly, to our book, I mean a lot of

         20  these issues, the fairness question in terms of the

         21  implementation of the death penalty access to

         22  justice, meaning the American Bar Association has

         23  called for a moratorium against the death penalty

         24  and it has been on record for four years now. The

         25  fairness questions, the injustice questions that you
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          2  are targeting, I think that this is not a democrat

          3  versus republican issue, the conservatives versus a

          4  liberal issue, a prosecutor versus a defense

          5  attorney issue. I think that this is core mainstream

          6  concern, because I mean our book Actual Innocence,

          7  the best rave review we got was from George Wilk,

          8  you know, the Governor of Illinois, he was the

          9  supporter of the death penalty, George Ryan, he

         10  declared the moratorium.

         11                 So, I think that this is something

         12  where it is no longer the third rail of American

         13  politics to say that you are for a moratorium on the

         14  death penalty, in light of what we have seen in the

         15  last few years and the revelations we have observed

         16  about our system.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In addition to

         18  the moratorium, could you just tell the Committee

         19  what other fundamental steps are being taken to sort

         20  of equalize the playing field?

         21                 So we put a moratorium in place, what

         22  other steps are being done in the legal system

         23  across this country to give people who lack the

         24  resources, to provide them with properly trained

         25  attorneys? I mean, are there other simultaneous
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          2  efforts being made? And if so, I imagine there are,

          3  if anyone on the panel can inform us about that?

          4                 MR. SCHECH: I think Professor Liebman

          5  would have a lot to say about that.

          6                 MR. LIEBMAN: Around the country there

          7  are --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Please state your

          9  name for the record.

         10                 MR. LIEBMAN: I am sorry.

         11                 James Liebman, Professor of Law,

         12  Columbia Law School, New York City.

         13                 Around the country there are a

         14  variety of efforts being undertaken to equalize

         15  matters. One of the important ones is in the United

         16  States Congress where the bipartisan bill in both

         17  the house and the senate, with sponsorship from both

         18  sides of the aisle, is endeavoring to do two things.

         19  Among others, one is to make sure that DNA testing

         20  is available to everybody, no matter what their

         21  financial circumstances might be, both by saving the

         22  DNA so that it is available when testing is needed

         23  and then making the testing available.

         24                 More importantly perhaps because it

         25  reaches all the cases. That bill has a provision in
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          2  it that would require or encourage the state, as a

          3  prerequisite for getting certain federal funding for

          4  criminal justice matters to provide counsel that

          5  meets particular standards of experience and other

          6  things, and you would have to provide a certain

          7  proscribed number of lawyers in particular kinds of

          8  cases, particularly capital cases.

          9                 There are a variety of other

         10  initiatives which I think are important. There are

         11  initiatives to require that confessions be

         12  videotaped, to require that if the police have

         13  anything in their file that material be turned over

         14  to the defense, an open files policy on the theory

         15  that if somebody is going to be executed, the jury

         16  and the defendant have the right to see everything

         17  that is in the file that might suggest that some

         18  other outcome is appropriate, and there are a

         19  variety of other efforts like that.

         20                 One of the important values of a

         21  moratorium or a study period that usually a

         22  moratorium brings with it is the opportunity to look

         23  carefully at what the attributes are of the cases

         24  that are going back in a particular jurisdiction or

         25  across the country and to prescribe the kinds of
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          2  reforms that might be fitting for those particular

          3  problems.

          4                 MS. JONES: Councilman, one of the

          5  most important issues here and you have put your

          6  finger on it is the competence of counsel,

          7  especially when the death penalty is being sought do

          8  you need the counsel that has the experience. You

          9  don't need to be cutting your teeth on one of these

         10  cases when somebody's life is at stake.

         11                 Now, this country, at one point we

         12  were on the right track, when Congress passed and

         13  funded the death penalty resource centers across the

         14  country, in each they were working, you had indigent

         15  defendants able to get counsel who were paid, not

         16  what they should be paid, but paid a reasonable rate

         17  in order to defend these cases, and those centers

         18  were defunded. Congress repealed, defunded those

         19  centers a few years, and, so, we took a few steps

         20  forward and then we erased the slate. We need to go

         21  back to that. And the national level, we need to

         22  make sure that we have quality of counsel across the

         23  country, a uniform standard.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 I just want to make one comment. I

          3  think there was a story last week in the Times or

          4  one of the local dailies about not having enough

          5  counsel for Family Court matters, and the story was

          6  about a 15-year-old kid before the judge and the

          7  judge was apologizing to him because it was the

          8  third time they were calling them in but that the

          9  case wasn't going to be addressed.

         10                 MR. SCHECH: And I really want to

         11  emphasize that, because it may be intriguing for you

         12  to know that some of us here, Donna Lieberman and I,

         13  we were public defenders together with The Legal Aid

         14  Society in the South Bronx in 1975, I look around

         15  the room, so many of us started that way, and

         16  looking at the system now, since that time, I can

         17  tell you that it has gotten worse in terms of court

         18  appointed lawyers. Can you imagine, the City of New

         19  York, you are getting $15 an hour, $40 an hour? You

         20  can't pay rent with that, and we are to be ranked at

         21  the very bottom of the country on this.

         22                 Now, I understand that the Governor

         23  and the Legislature are beginning to look at this

         24  issue seriously, we haven't had a rake hike for

         25  court-apppointed lawyers in 20 years.
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          2                 Now, you know, the death penalty eats

          3  up a lot of those precious resources, because you

          4  absolutely have to devote a lot of your resources to

          5  the death case if you are going to have such a

          6  system, but it is a game that is not worth the

          7  candle, as Professor Liebman is going to demonstrate

          8  for you in no uncertain terms. And particularly in

          9  this state, I can't imagine. Why you aren't raising

         10  your voices to the Governor and Shelly Silver and

         11  everybody else that needs to be talked to on both

         12  sides of the political aisle saying, wait a second,

         13  we want our system to work. Because, you know, when

         14  the defense lawyer is not doing the job, that is

         15  where you get the junk forensic science, it is where

         16  you get the police misconduct, prosecutorial,

         17  everything falls apart, because the adversary system

         18  falls apart, and you can't weed out the bad actors.

         19                 So, it is the linchpin issue and we

         20  have a lot of work to do in New York. We can't say,

         21  oh, look at Texas, when we have this problem right

         22  here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, thank you

         24  very much. Just for your information, this Committee

         25  held a hearing several months ago regarding the need
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          2  for an increase for the court-appointed attorneys

          3  and we had a number of people from the state that

          4  testified and we are on the issue, however, it is

          5  not our direct jurisdiction, but we concur. You

          6  know, there is something called a United States

          7  Constitution that says that people are innocent

          8  until proven guilty, and that the state has the

          9  responsibility for providing counsel, if the

         10  individual cannot afford it. I think they

         11  Mirandarize (phonetic) everybody that they arrest,

         12  we have to make that real.

         13                 I want to thank Ms. Jones.

         14                 Oh, I am sorry, my colleague from

         15  Manhattan has joined us, Margarita Lopez, and you

         16  have the floor.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't know

         18  how to articulate the question that I want to ask

         19  you, it is all in my head jumping all over. But

         20  basically let me ask you first, the basis to adopt a

         21  death penalty anywhere in the United States is about

         22  the understanding that the system, government,

         23  understands that it is the best deterrent for crime;

         24  that's the principle? Will you say that that is the

         25  case? Not that you believe that, I am just asking
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          2  you. I am just asking you if in the context in which

          3  this has been articulated in the law, is based on

          4  the idea that the death penalty would deter crime?

          5                 MR. LIEBMAN: Well, the Supreme Court

          6  at least has upheld the death penalty on the theory

          7  that it must serve a valid societal purpose and the

          8  two that it could think of the death penalty might

          9  serve were deterrence and retribution.

         10                 So, we have it from the Supreme Court

         11  that that is the theory at least.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Retribution and

         13  deterrence. Those are the two principles behind it?

         14                 MR. LIEBMAN: Right.

         15                 MR. SCHECH: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

         17                 Then if we understand that, I am a

         18  supporter of this resolution, I am a prime sponsor,

         19  but I am not a prime sponsor because I believe that

         20  we need to put a moratorium, it is because I am

         21  against the death penalty, period, that's it.

         22                 And to me it is irrelevant if we have

         23  the lawyers who are going to defend these people,

         24  don't defend these people, I mean that is irrelevant

         25  to me.
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          2                 Would you say that putting the death

          3  penalty in place in a society is making every one of

          4  us who is a member of this society, and I am making

          5  this society now very small, I am making it just New

          6  York City, as part of the people who pull the

          7  trigger, as part of the people who connect the

          8  electricity, as part of the people who inject the

          9  lethal injection, will you say that every single one

         10  of us, when we accept this idea, as a ballot idea,

         11  as an idea of civilization and civilized society,

         12  will you say that every one of us is part of it, and

         13  take the life of those people away that is not just

         14  the state who is doing it, but you, yourself, as a

         15  member of this society?

         16                 I am asking each one of you if you

         17  agree with that or disagree with that, or you think

         18  that I am pushing the envelope too far?

         19                 MR. SCHECH: No, I don't. I think that

         20  was the significance of really the first panel, the

         21  ecumenical panel, the religious leaders that took

         22  that position.

         23                 I found it quite extraordinary in the

         24  third presidential debate that I was surprised, I

         25  thought I was briefed on these issues, that Governor
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          2  Bush, when he was asked about whether he was taking

          3  undue delight in the executions in Texas, he said,

          4  well, he wasn't for the death penalty because of

          5  deterrence, which actually struck me as kind of a

          6  surprise in a way because -- I mean, I am sorry, he

          7  said he wasn't for it because he thought it was the

          8  immorally appropriate sanction, that revenge was

          9  something important to express community outrage.

         10  Because ordinarily now I think that most of the

         11  proponents of the death penalty kind of take that

         12  position, that it is immorally appropriate sanction,

         13  it expresses the outrage of the community - he said

         14  he was for it on the grounds of deterrence, which

         15  was very, very odd, because that really seems like a

         16  case that has not been made in quite a long time, in

         17  terms of the death penalty actually deterring crime,

         18  deterring homicides, I just don't know of any

         19  credible case for that.

         20                 So, it is very strange. It seems like

         21  the President of the United States, who has executed

         22  more people I guess than anyone in modern history,

         23  seems to agree with you that it is not so much a

         24  moral issue, he says it is a deterrence issue, and

         25  yet there is no case for deterrence, so the whole
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          2  thing seems fairly Orwellian to me these days.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

          4  Michels.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, thank

          6  you very much. As much as I am against the death

          7  penalty, I am still learning an awful lot about the

          8  issue, as much as I have studied the issue myself,

          9  and it seems to me, after listening to this panel

         10  and the panel previously, the panel previous to

         11  this, that we hear all sorts of reasons, it is for

         12  revenge, it is for purposes of retribution and

         13  purposes of to stop people from doing it in the

         14  future, obviously when someone is dead they are not

         15  going to be able to commit the death penalty, commit

         16  death; but isn't the real reason that it is simply

         17  wrong, the penalty is wrong, but we can't get the

         18  courts to go along with that in the likelihood of

         19  this court, or future courts under this precedent,

         20  we are looking for other excuses? Don't you want to

         21  argue that it is simply an inhuman penalty? It's a

         22  penalty that doesn't belong. There are like so many

         23  nations in the world have argued, I think England

         24  does not have the death penalty, many nations do

         25  not, because it is just simply wrong. Without all of
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          2  these other excuses.

          3                 And I guess it is close to what the

          4  first panel said for religious reasons, the Catholic

          5  Church, the Rabbi, many of the Quakers; but is the

          6  reason we are looking for these excuses because we

          7  are afraid the courts won't uphold the real reason,

          8  because it is simply the wrong penalty?

          9                 MR. LIEBMAN: Councilman, if I can

         10  address that question. A lot of people think it is

         11  wrong; a lot of people think it is right. In fact,

         12  two-thirds of the American people do support the

         13  death penalty, if that is the only question that is

         14  put to them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I dare say if

         16  they themselves have to pull the switch, they would

         17  have second thoughts about it.

         18                 MR. LIEBMAN: That may be true,

         19  although there are people who volunteer to do just

         20  that.

         21                 But I will say this, I am not

         22  disagreeing with your moral position, I am simply

         23  answering your question about why address it on a

         24  plane other than a moral issue, when, after all, it

         25  is a deep moral issue.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I would like

          3  to transfer this moral position to a legal position.

          4                 MR. LIEBMAN: Well, the thing is that

          5  I think so crucial right at this moment in American

          6  history is this issue has been reclaimed from the

          7  courts, the issue has been taken over by the courts

          8  for 20,. 30 years, everybody else has left it to the

          9  courts, aside from a moral debate, and the result of

         10  that has been a stalemate, because the courts don't

         11  have the guts or the ability to do anything about

         12  it.

         13                 What is so crucial about the moment

         14  right now and why it is so important that bodies

         15  like this one that are political bodies consider

         16  this issue is that the people are taking this issue

         17  back, legislators are taking it back, taxpayers are

         18  taking it back. People who actually believe in the

         19  death penalty but want to make sure or find out

         20  whether it is being enforced fairly or can be are

         21  taking it back, and it seems to me that that is a

         22  very important movement in this country, because it

         23  holds out the possibility that an issue that has

         24  been so stalemated in the courts can be resolved by

         25  the people in the political arena on the theory that
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          2  whether or not you are for it or against it morally,

          3  it is the government's responsibility to do it

          4  right, and if the government can't do it right,

          5  well, then, we don't have to have it, even though we

          6  might have a big disagreement and we could never

          7  resolve on the moral question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I agree with

          9  you. But there was a long period of time where the

         10  Supreme Court has held that the death penalties in

         11  the states were not legal, and it was only, what,

         12  the last ten years where they have permitted the

         13  statutes?

         14                 MR. LIEBMAN: Well, actually the

         15  United States Supreme Court has never held that the

         16  death penalty is unconstitutional. It did in one

         17  year hold that all of the current statutes in

         18  existence at that point were improper --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That's what I

         20  am talking about.

         21                 MR. LIEBMAN: But it invited the

         22  states to reinstate the death penalty and perhaps to

         23  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: For what

         25  period of time did we go without the death penalties
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          2  from any of the states?

          3                 MR. LIEBMAN: A matter of weeks. A

          4  matter of months. Because they reinstated very

          5  quickly after that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I don't think

          7  there were any executions for a matter of years.

          8                 MR. LIEBMAN: No, there were not.

          9  There were not executions from '66 to '76 at all,

         10  and then there weren't very many executions --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: For the

         12  period we did not have any executions, did the

         13  country suffer during that period of time? Did the

         14  murder rate go up?

         15                 MR. LIEBMAN: I am not here to defend

         16  the death penalty.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am asking

         18  you because you are a person who can give some

         19  facts.

         20                 MR. LIEBMAN: No, there is absolutely

         21  no evidence of deterrences, as Professor Schech

         22  mentioned, in the study that I am going to talk

         23  about in a moment, we found in fact that the

         24  homicide rate, the murder rate is higher in states

         25  that have the death penalty --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Correct.

          3                 MR. LIEBMAN: Than those that do not.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Someone ought

          5  to look at that 10-year period to see whether or not

          6  there were more deaths.

          7                 Okay, thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Mrs. Jones, Mr.

          9  Schech, and Mrs. Lieberman, thank you very much for

         10  your testimony.

         11                 Professor Liebman, can you stay, and

         12  Mr. Neufeld, can you stay? And if we can invite up

         13  Evan Davis, from the New York Bar Association, and

         14  Chris Asplen, from the U.S. Department of Justice,

         15  to join this panel. Mr. Asplen is testifying with

         16  regard to Resolution 1660, that is the one on the

         17  DNA. We are in receipt of his report, entitled Post

         18  Conviction DNA Testing: Recommendations for Handling

         19  Requests, and we are entering this in the record.

         20                 Thank you for taking the trip from

         21  Washington.

         22                 MR. ASPLEN: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Professor

         24  Liebman, since you are here, you may begin.

         25                 MR. LIEBMAN: Thank you, Chairman
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          2  Warden, Council Members, for allowing me to speak

          3  here. As I said before, I am a law professor at

          4  Columbia here in the City of New York. Some

          5  colleagues and I at Columbia conducted a study over

          6  the last nine years or so, which we asked a very

          7  simple question. We have a death penalty system in

          8  this country, it has its own inspectors. Those

          9  inspectors are the courts that look at every single

         10  death penalty, what have those inspectors said about

         11  the quality of American death sentences? We looked

         12  at 23 years' worth of death sentences across all the

         13  states that had it, 28 states, thousands of death

         14  sentences, and we found that the courts in this

         15  country predominantly state court, elected state

         16  judges, not federal judges, determined that 68

         17  percent of all death sentences imposed in that

         18  23-year period, and reviewed during that period were

         19  found to be so seriously flawed that they could not

         20  be carried out, they had to be sent back for

         21  retrial.

         22                 We asked, are these serious flaws? We

         23  found that 80 percent of the flaws were accounted

         24  for where we had data. By four simple kinds of

         25  violations, egregiously ineffective assistance of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            68

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  counsel, the withholding of evidence by prosecutors

          3  that showed that the defendant was innocent or did

          4  not deserve the death penalty, instructions by

          5  judges that misinformed the jurors about how they

          6  were supposed to decide whether death was the

          7  appropriate punishment or a conviction was

          8  appropriate, and, finally, biased judges and jurors.

          9  Those four simple errors that nobody would want to

         10  have in any case that they might be tried in

         11  accounted for 80 percent of the errors that we

         12  found.

         13                 We also asked, what happens to these

         14  cases when they are overturned and they go back for

         15  retrial? Another measure at how serious they are,

         16  and what we found there in the cases where we had

         17  data was that 82 percent of the cases on retrial

         18  when they went back and the error was cured resulted

         19  in a sentence less than death, seven percent of

         20  those people ended up being acquitted of any capital

         21  crime.

         22                 So, what we found was that there is

         23  serious error shot through this system. All but one

         24  of the 28 states that we looked at had an error rate

         25  over this period of over 50 percent, that means that
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          2  they were more likely to get it wrong than to get it

          3  right.

          4                 We found that there was an error rate

          5  of over 50 percent in all but one of the 23 years

          6  that we looked at. So, this is a persistent problem.

          7  It is not one state, it is not one year, it is a

          8  problem with the system of the death penalty across

          9  the Board in the United States.

         10                 Now, there are a couple of charts

         11  that I have in the materials that I turned over to

         12  the Committee that I think answer a big question

         13  that is asked bout this study and about the death

         14  penalty, doesn't it work? Because all of these

         15  errors are caught by the court, so that means our

         16  justice system is working.

         17                 Well, the first thing to look at is

         18  this Chart No. 12 which shows each of the states and

         19  what the error rates were ranging from 100 percent

         20  in some states, over 90 percent in Mississippi, down

         21  to a mere 52 percent error rate in Texas for

         22  example. And the answer is that any degree of error

         23  at this rate of error in any walk of life, if this

         24  were Ford Motor Company building cars, or any, or

         25  the Department of Motor Vehicles issuing drivers'
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          2  licenses and we had error rates persistently across

          3  time at this rate, even if we caught those errors

          4  eventually, nobody would say that this is a system

          5  that is working, it is a system that is designed to,

          6  and over time has essentially been one designed to

          7  make mistakes. And the very important point that

          8  needs to be made about this, Professor Schech

          9  referred to it in referring to the Achowa case, and

         10  a number of other cases, this just shows what the

         11  Court's own inspection system does.

         12                 There are any number of cases in this

         13  country where the court system approved people for

         14  execution who turned out thereafter to be innocent

         15  because college students went and did their own

         16  investigation, because a filmmaker got involved and

         17  found out that the person was innocent. In one case

         18  in Florida the person was shown to be innocent

         19  because there was a break at the prosecutor's office

         20  and they managed to get some files out of the office

         21  that showed that the prosecutor had railroaded

         22  somebody who was innocent.

         23                 So, this only shows the error rates

         24  that the courts find, but we have a fallible court

         25  system, as you would imagine, when it is run by
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          2  human beings, and, so, the error rates that we found

          3  are conservative, there actually was more error,

          4  some of the error gets through and the courts don't

          5  catch it, somebody else is left to catch it, and, of

          6  course, when we are leaving it up to fortuity like

          7  that, it is very likely that some of this error

          8  won't be caught. We think this shows a very high

          9  rate of risk that innocent people have been and will

         10  continue to be executed.

         11                 The final point I want to make is

         12  simply by looking at chart No. 35.

         13                 This is the chart for people who

         14  believe in the death penalty. It asks, how good are

         15  we at carrying out executions in this country where

         16  we impose the death sentence? This chart only goes

         17  up to 60 percent, you can extend it up to 100

         18  percent, white is failure, dark is success. If you

         19  believe in the death penalty, these are our success

         20  rates, these are our failure rates. We are paying

         21  millions and millions of dollars every year and we

         22  are getting very, very little return for that. There

         23  is so much error in the system that we can't even

         24  accomplish what we want to accomplish, if you

         25  believe in the death penalty, which is to have these
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          2  things turn into execution.

          3                 So, even from that standpoint, this

          4  study suggests that this is a system that is not

          5  working.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

          7                 MR. TABAK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

          8  members of the Council. My name is Ronald Tabak. I

          9  am the Co-Chair of the Death Penalty Committee of

         10  the American Bar Association, Section of Individual

         11  Rights and Responsibilities, and I would like to

         12  note that now that this hearing has been going for

         13  about 90 minutes, this body has held 90 minutes more

         14  hearings on this subject than either house of the

         15  New York State Legislature held before reenacting

         16  the death penalty in 1995, because neither the state

         17  senate nor the state assembly held one minute of

         18  hearings before they reenacted the death penalty,

         19  and I think that is important to note.

         20                 The American Bar Association does not

         21  take a position for or against the death penalty in

         22  theory, but it accepts that it opposes the execution

         23  of people with mental retardation or juveniles.

         24                 The New York Statute does not allow

         25  execution of juveniles, but it does allow execution

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            73

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  of people with mental retardation if the jury, but

          3  not the judge, concludes that the person has mental

          4  retardation, the jury can then go ahead and sentence

          5  the person to death. It is only if the judge finds

          6  they have mental retardation that they cannot do

          7  that.

          8                 The ABA, however, has found that the

          9  manner in which the death penalty is carried out

         10  systemically throughout this country is so unfair

         11  that in 1997 it has called for a complete moratorium

         12  on executions until all of numerous steps that it

         13  has long been calling for are carried out, and those

         14  steps, including getting rid of the execution of the

         15  mentally retarded and juveniles, but in addition to

         16  that, we have called for there to be competent

         17  counsel at all stages of proceedings up to and

         18  including post conviction and federal habius corpus

         19  and clemency proceedings. And we are sad to see that

         20  in New York State they have already cut the rates of

         21  pay for trial level lawyers in capital cases from

         22  what had originally been established, that there is

         23  no system set up for a state post conviction and

         24  that we have reason to believe that our highest

         25  court has some reason to worry about the quality
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          2  even on direct appeal of counsel. So, there are

          3  problems with counsel.

          4                 We also have found major problems

          5  with what we call procedural bars. These are things

          6  that prevent people, whether they are innocent or

          7  guilty, from getting courts to rule on their

          8  meritorious claims that their rights under our

          9  constitution have been violated.

         10                 So, for example, if your lawyer fails

         11  to object, the lawyer was appointed for you fails to

         12  object at the right time, and it wasn't due to any

         13  strategy, you cannot get any ruling on that claim in

         14  most courts.

         15                 Under Professor Liebman's study that

         16  would be shown as something not found to be an

         17  error, and, yet, people have died, have been

         18  executed literally because the lawyers were one day

         19  or two days late in filing an appeal, because they

         20  failed to object at the right time.

         21                 Or if your claim that you were

         22  raising all along was found by the United States

         23  Supreme Court to be valid, because they never told

         24  your jury that life without parole was the

         25  alternative, but they didn't rule in that in time
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          2  for your direct appeal, they only ruled on it after

          3  that, the United States Supreme Court now will not

          4  allow any federal court to rule on your claim, even

          5  though by the time you get to the federal courts,

          6  they already know that your claim was meritorious.

          7                 The harmless error rule has been

          8  changed in a way that makes the defendants have to

          9  demonstrate more of a likelihood that they wouldn't

         10  have been sentenced to death otherwise, without the

         11  constitutional error that was committed by the

         12  prosecution. This test used to be that the state had

         13  to prove that it was harmless beyond a reasonable

         14  doubt, that is no longer the case.

         15                 Racial discrimination and the death

         16  penalty is the other major reason why the ABA

         17  opposes the way in which the death penalty is being

         18  carried out and supports a moratorium, and I should

         19  note that the Independent General Accounting Office

         20  has found that numerous studies finding racial

         21  discrimination and the death penalty are valid and

         22  that the ones often cited claiming there isn't were

         23  not valid. And in New York State, although the

         24  statute goes some of the way in the right direction

         25  on racial discrimination, the statute does not
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          2  require, and the courts are not collecting data

          3  about cases that could have been brought as first

          4  degree murder cases, but instead were brought as

          5  second degree or lesser murder cases, which should

          6  be part of the overall group of cases you consider

          7  to decide on racial discrimination.

          8                 So, the ABA commends this Council for

          9  having a hearing that the State Legislature never

         10  had. We would hope that republicans in this city and

         11  state would consider supporting it and note that it

         12  was through a republican Nebraska legislature that

         13  voted for a moratorium, although the Governor vetoed

         14  it, the republican legislature in New Hampshire

         15  voted actually to repeal the death penalty, which is

         16  further than the ABA would go, while the democratic

         17  Governor vetoed it. There is republican Councilmen

         18  in various places, a Councilman in Chapel Hill that

         19  spoke in an ABA meeting and supports the moratorium.

         20  The New York State Bar, as today's New York Law

         21  Journal reports, their Criminal Justice Section

         22  supports a moratorium, and later this week the full

         23  New York State Bar will vote with that. We hope they

         24  will join the New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Connecticut

         25  Bars in doing that.
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          2                 So, we thank you very much for the

          3  opportunity to speak here, and we would simply note

          4  that as an organization that is not against the

          5  death penalty in principle, that the leading

          6  national group of lawyers has found the system so

          7  unfair in its actual practice, that it is compelled

          8  to support a moratorium.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         11  much for your testimony.

         12                 Mr. Neufeld.

         13                 MR. NEUFELD: I am Russell Neufeld. I

         14  am speaking on behalf of the New York State

         15  Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers. I am also

         16  the Attorney In Charge of The Legal Aid Society's

         17  Capital Division, which is the office of The Legal

         18  Aid Society that represents people in New York City

         19  that are facing the death penalty. In that capacity

         20  I was one of the trial attorneys on the Darryl

         21  Harris case, which was the first death penalty trial

         22  in the state, and I also teach a course in the death

         23  penalty at New York Law School.

         24                 I thank the Council for this

         25  opportunity to testify about this important
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          2  resolution. I don't think there is anything that you

          3  could do that would be more important than

          4  convincing the state to have a moratorium on the

          5  death penalty.

          6                 The New York State Association of

          7  Criminal Defense Lawyers is the largest association

          8  of criminal defense practitioners in the state, and

          9  our members represent many people, both within New

         10  York State, but also all over the country, who are

         11  either facing the death penalty or have been

         12  sentenced to death. And it is that intimate

         13  understanding of how capital punishment actually

         14  functions in our less than perfect criminal justice

         15  system and a society which is rife with racial and

         16  other bias, which has led NYSACDL to call for the

         17  abolition of the death penalty.

         18                 Short of that, a moratorium on

         19  capital prosecutions and executions could provide

         20  the space for some real study, reflection and debate

         21  free from the charged atmosphere that surrounds the

         22  state's putting human beings to death.

         23                 And just let me say on that, that I

         24  came here straight from court in Queens, in Kew

         25  Gardens, where my office represents one of the
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          2  defendants in the Wendy's case, and today Mr. Brown,

          3  the District Attorney, I think very bravely

          4  announced that he was not going to seek death

          5  against one of the individuals who was our client,

          6  and he also announced that he is going to seek death

          7  against the other individual.

          8                 There were a lot of people in that

          9  courtroom, a lot of victims' families who were very

         10  upset and crying and there were reporters talking to

         11  them and sticking microphones in their faces and you

         12  have to see firsthand just what an ordeal the whole

         13  issue of the death penalty puts, not just the

         14  criminal justice system through and the prosecutors

         15  and the defense bar, but people's families, the

         16  Defendant's families, the circles just are so wide,

         17  and the impact of this policy and the legislation

         18  the state now has so drastically altered how crimes

         19  are seen, how criminal justice is seen, how

         20  penalties are seen, that it is overwhelming, and I

         21  was pretty blown away just to be there this morning.

         22                 We, in New York, like to think of

         23  ourselves as more enlightened than the death belt

         24  states of Texas to Florida, but when it comes to

         25  capital punishment, we are following their lead. In
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          2  fact, it is only New York that has actually cut the

          3  fees it pays lawyers in capital cases. It is New

          4  York that leads the nation in the documented number

          5  of innocent people executed. It is New York that has

          6  the worst discovery in capital cases.

          7                 Unlike other death penalty

          8  jurisdictions, such as Illinois, or the federal

          9  government, New York has no centralized control over

         10  the prosecutor's decision to seek death. This has

         11  led to a completely arbitrary selection of

         12  defendants for the death penalty, based on the

         13  county in which the crime is committed. It has

         14  resulted in 50 percent of the people on New York's

         15  death row coming from just one of our 62 counties,

         16  and that's Suffolk County.

         17                 New York's death penalty is full of

         18  anomalies, that is the law is full of anomalies.

         19                 For example, if a judge finds that a

         20  defendant is mentally retarded, that defendant can't

         21  be sentenced to death. But if the jury finds him

         22  retarded, a death sentence is still permitted.

         23                 If a defendant is charged with murder

         24  in the first degree, a prosecutor has 120 days from

         25  Supreme Court arraignment to decide whether or not
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          2  to seek death. But if the defendant is charged with

          3  the less serious murder in the second degree, there

          4  is no limit on how long a prosecutor can take to

          5  decide whether or not to seek the death penalty.

          6                 Inconsistencies like these are the

          7  seeds from which unjust death sentences result.

          8                 When the United States Supreme Court

          9  decided, in Furman, that the death penalty, as it

         10  was actually used in the United States, resulted in

         11  freakish and arbitrary results, their decision was

         12  based both on the kind of racial discrimination that

         13  we have heard about, but it was also based on the

         14  type of arbitrariness permitted under the present

         15  New York capital statute.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Please sum up.

         17                 MR. NEUFELD: We should take the time

         18  that a moratorium affords us to really examine the

         19  damage that capital punishment does, then hopefully

         20  our elected leaders will come to agree with the

         21  majority of the people in this state, and New

         22  Yorkers will overwhelmingly support alternatives to

         23  capital punishment.

         24                 They are killing people who kill

         25  people to show that killing people is wrong, it
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          2  makes no sense. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Mr. Davis.

          6                 MR. DAVIS: Thank you very much for

          7  this opportunity to address you on the subject of a

          8  moratorium on the death penalty.

          9                 In 1972, the City Bar first urged the

         10  enactment of federal legislation to suspend

         11  executions in the United States. Today the case for

         12  a moratorium is even more compelling.

         13                 First, DNA evidence has taught us

         14  that the risk that we will convict an innocent

         15  person is higher than we had ever supposed. In the

         16  future, DNA evidence will help in some cases clear

         17  the innocent. There will remain, however, many cases

         18  in which there is no relevant DNA evidence. Now that

         19  we know that the risk of error is material, we

         20  should have a deep concern about imposing an

         21  irreversible death penalty in these cases.

         22                 Second, the risk that a death

         23  sentence will stem in part from racial or other

         24  prejudice has not abated since 1972.

         25                 To the contrary, as our society has
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          2  become more heterogeneous, the issue of prejudice

          3  effects a growing percentage of our population.

          4  Because prejudice has not disappeared as a corrosive

          5  force in our society, it still has the potential to

          6  taint not just the resolution of guilt or innocence,

          7  but also the decision whether to impose death.

          8  Empathy - the feeling that there but for the grace

          9  of God go my son, my daughter, my buddy or myself -

         10  is the emotion behind the willingness to show mercy.

         11  Because prejudice undercuts empathy, it bears

         12  directly on the likelihood that that death sentence

         13  will be imposed.

         14                 Third, the risk that the economic

         15  situation of the defendant will bear on the

         16  likelihood that a death sentence is imposed has by

         17  no means been eliminated. If anything, it is clearer

         18  today that the counsel assigned to represent

         19  indigent defendants are far from adequately funded,

         20  and that the uneveness in quality that results is a

         21  prime cause of erroneous results.

         22                 Also, the gap between rich and poor

         23  has increased. Thus, on the one hand. The number of

         24  people able to afford a "dream team" defense is up,

         25  but so, too, is the number that must rely on
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          2  underfunded assigned counsel.

          3                 Fourth, we now know more about the

          4  substantiality of the risk that a death sentence

          5  will be attended by non-trivial prosecutorial

          6  misconduct. A recent study by the gentleman to my

          7  left, Columbia Law School Professor James Liebman,

          8  shows an all too high level of discovered

          9  prosecutorial misconduct in capital cases.

         10                 What we don't know is the level of

         11  prosecutorial misconduct that goes undiscovered.

         12  Even an unconditional open file policy would not be

         13  complete insurance against misconduct although it

         14  would be a substantial advance over the limited

         15  level of discovery available to a defendant in New

         16  York.

         17                 Fifth, we have the unresolved problem

         18  in New York of county-by-county variance in the

         19  willingness of District Attorneys to seek the death

         20  penalty. While the Governor superseded a New York

         21  City District Attorney in one case citing the need

         22  for uniformity, ad hoc use by the Governor of the

         23  superseder power is not an effective solution.

         24  Appellate proportionality review also fails absent a

         25  consistent track record against which to judge
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          2  proportionality.

          3                 Variance in the exercise of

          4  prosecutorial discretion in death penalty cases, it

          5  should be noted, is a much bigger problem than the

          6  county-by-county discretion in the review of punch

          7  card ballots that led the Supreme Court to halt the

          8  recount of those ballots.

          9                 Finally, I want to address two

         10  specific legal questions: The power of the Congress

         11  to impose a moratorium on state executions and the

         12  power of the Governor of New York to use his pardon

         13  power to effect a moratorium on executions in this

         14  state.

         15                 Our 1972 report concluded that

         16  Congress had the   power to enact a moratorium under

         17  its power to enforce the 14th Amendment. The

         18  reasoning of our Committee applied then remains

         19  valid today, although one cannot predict with

         20  certainty the outcome of a challenge before the

         21  Supreme Court.

         22                 As for the Governor's power, no one

         23  would doubt his power in an individual case to stay

         24  an execution pending further investigation. Given

         25  the breadth of the New York Governor's pardon power,
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          2  it is certain that, as Governor Ryan did in

          3  Illinois, our Governor has the power to impose a

          4  moratorium on all executions pending investigation

          5  and study by a commission.

          6                 This will be a big issue in the next

          7  gubernatorial election. What will Comptroller McCall

          8  say about a moratorium? We think we know what

          9  Governor Pataki will say. What will Andrew Cuomo say

         10  if he runs? This is important politically. Your

         11  action is not without political significance.

         12                 New York should not wait until

         13  someone has been executed to impose a moratorium.

         14  The fairest time to do it is before anyone is

         15  executed. A moratorium should not await a court of

         16  appeals ruling on the constitutionality of New

         17  York's death penalty statute.

         18                 Study may lead to a majority to

         19  conclude that the death penalty poses too grave a

         20  risk to human rights, and under our system of

         21  government, the people speak first, not the courts.

         22                 Thank you, again, for this

         23  opportunity to speak. I would be happy to answer any

         24  questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Our next speaker is Chris Asplen. He

          4  is from the Department of Justice, he flew in from

          5  Washington to discuss DNA and resolution 1660. I

          6  leave the floor to you.

          7                 MR. ASPLEN: Thank you, Council

          8  Member.

          9                 I do appreciate the opportunity to be

         10  here for a number of reasons. Number one, New York,

         11  as my colleague to my right here pointed out, New

         12  York has been very advanced in a number of

         13  applications of DNA technology from kind of both

         14  ends of the spectrum, both from the post conviction

         15  aspect, and it's been the second state to actually

         16  legislate post conviction DNA testing, all the way

         17  through to the other end of the spectrum, and that's

         18  the investigative use of DNA and the recent decision

         19  by the Police Department to outsource its 17,000,

         20  18,000 rape kits, which will solve a tremendous

         21  number of cases.

         22                 Because of the lead New York has

         23  taken, the rest of the country will benefit greatly

         24  by its lead, and I can say that from the perspective

         25  of the National Commission on the Future of DNA
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          2  Evidence to the extent that we have often used New

          3  York as a reference, as an example in the work that

          4  we have done.

          5                 I want to be very clear, though, that

          6  my comments today are in fact in regards to

          7  Resolution 1660, they are not in regards to

          8  Resolution 1473 and the moratorium. As a

          9  representative of the United States Department of

         10  Justice I do not wish anything I say here be taken

         11  as representative of policy, I am here to simply

         12  educate on some of the issues and some of the things

         13  that we have found in the context and the course of

         14  the DNA commission.

         15                 I also want to commend this group for

         16  the extent to which the Commission was founded on

         17  the belief that the integration of DNA technology

         18  into the criminal justice system have to be done in

         19  a way that both maximizes the investigative value of

         20  the technology, but at the same time engenders

         21  public trust and the best way to do that is to have

         22  open public inclusive discussions like that on all

         23  of these issues.

         24                 What I would like to do is talk about

         25  the nexus between law enforcement and the death
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          2  penalty debate. And quite frankly, it was summed up

          3  rather simplistically, and I think appropriately

          4  simplistically by none other than Senator Schumer

          5  from New York at the hearings on the Lehe bill,

          6  which provided for post conviction DNA testing,

          7  provides for also competent counsel funding. And

          8  basically what he explained very quickly was the

          9  extent to which DNA technology doesn't argue for one

         10  side or the other, it is what it is, in appropriate

         11  cases it speaks to truth, in appropriate cases it

         12  proves identity. I want to emphasize "in the

         13  appropriate cases".

         14                 What that simply means, and what is

         15  going on across the country right now, is that those

         16  individuals who are proponents of the death penalty

         17  as a value to society are using it to their benefit

         18  and to their argument to say, look, now we are more

         19  reliable than ever in our convictions, and as such

         20  we should go forward with those executions, and the

         21  people who are opponents to the death penalty are

         22  using it in the opposite way, and they are saying we

         23  are being shown a fundamental flaw in the system and

         24  that we do, in fact, have wrongful convictions.

         25                 And both of those are true, however,
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          2  what we need to be really clear on is the extent to

          3  which DNA doesn't really tell us what the problem

          4  is. All it does is it tells us there is a problem in

          5  certain cases, in a number of cases. How many those

          6  cases are, I don't know. We often get into

          7  statistics and arguments about statistics. One thing

          8  that when we consider the statistics of DNA and the

          9  effect that DNA has had on exonerating individuals,

         10  what we need to do is we need to recognize that

         11  those have been cases which identity was an issue.

         12  When we extrapolate wrongful convictions out, when

         13  we take the number of wrongful convictions we found,

         14  81, 90, however many you want to call it, and then

         15  you simply multiply that out by the number of

         16  arrests or the number of convictions, that is not a

         17  fair quantification of the issue. What we need to do

         18  is we need to look at those in terms of which cases

         19  was identity an issue and to what extent did DNA

         20  help us.

         21                 I point that out to say that one of

         22  the errors that are resources are woefully law is

         23  understanding that, is understanding why the problem

         24  is what it is. There hasn't been great follow-up

         25  research on studies by Professor Liebman, in terms
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          2  of why we are in this particular position.

          3                 One thing I can say, from a

          4  prosecutorial standpoint, and I am an Assistant

          5  United States Prosecutor, I was a Deputy District

          6  Attorney for eight years, and I specialize in child

          7  abuse and sex crimes against children, good

          8  attorneys, good defense attorneys, are efficient

          9  attorneys. And quite frankly, the number of times

         10  that I had to worry about the extent to which I had

         11  to try both my case and the defense attorney's case,

         12  because what I didn't want to do was face an appeal

         13  and try it all over again because an Appellate Court

         14  agreed that there wasn't competent counsel, may have

         15  been more often than that, that I had to think about

         16  both cases as I was trying them. And quite frankly.

         17  A good attorney, like Professor Schech. Like some of

         18  the other individuals who know about DNA technology,

         19  are better to try cases against because we get the

         20  bogus issues out of the way, and we get right to the

         21  heart of the matter. That's better, that's a much

         22  better proposition for any prosecutor than a defense

         23  attorney who doesn't understand the issues and who

         24  was now paying attention.

         25                 Again, to draw the nexus between law
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          2  enforcement and post conviction and the death

          3  penalty, we necessarily have to understand that

          4  while in theory we are dealing with a relatively

          5  finite number of cases which DNA technology can help

          6  us, i.e., those cases which occurred before the

          7  consistent use of DNA technology, appropriate use of

          8  DNA technology, and before that where there are

          9  wrongful convictions. That is a theoretical finite

         10  universe though. And if our proposition is that if

         11  we had used DNA originally, the individual would not

         12  have been convicted and under this context convicted

         13  of a crime for which they were given the death

         14  penalty.

         15                 The proposition is that that

         16  individual may not have been wrongfully convicted.

         17  We have to understand, however, that we have not

         18  reached the point from the initial investigative

         19  standpoint of using DNA to make sure that we don't

         20  have wrongful convictions in the first place. It

         21  would be nice if we were using DNA technology now in

         22  a way that wouldn't cause us five or ten years ago,

         23  five or ten years from now, to have to go back and

         24  say here is another one where we could have used DNA

         25  technology, even in 2001, but we didn't, so now in
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          2  2006 we are having to go back in a post conviction

          3  context. But we are still not there yet.

          4                 So, necessarily, part of this

          5  discussion has to be to what extent do we use DNA

          6  technology more in the investigative phase. The

          7  bottom line is, the closer you do DNA testing, the

          8  more you use DNA testing from an investigative

          9  standpoint, the closer you get it to the time of the

         10  crime, the less likely someone is to get caught up

         11  wrongfully in that investigative dynamic.

         12                 What happens when an individual gets

         13  raped? Let's say it is in New York City and let's

         14  say it is in a particular neighborhood. A woman can

         15  give a very vague description of what happened. What

         16  we get is often times police go out and round up the

         17  usual suspects that may or may not match that

         18  individual and the ball begins to roll. Now, if we

         19  are lucky, the ball begins to roll in a correct way

         20  and that we did get the right person. But what about

         21  those instances in which we didn't?

         22                 Well, if we have got the wrong person

         23  at that stage, okay? And DNA isn't helping us

         24  because we are not using it enough in the

         25  investigative stage, we then become more vested in
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          2  our investigation at that point. There is a

          3  wonderful study on this idea of how that ball begins

          4  to roll that came out of Canada a number of years

          5  ago, called Gee Paul Morin Study (phonetic), it was

          6  a Commission, where an individual was wrongfully

          7  convicted and it turns out later through DNA that he

          8  was in fact innocent.

          9                 A Commission was created in Canada to

         10  look at why that investment began to direct the

         11  nature of the investigation.

         12                 Well, if what we are able to do is at

         13  the individual and its immediate time of arrest, or

         14  at the immediate -- closer to the time of the actual

         15  offense use DNA more, we are less likely to get

         16  someone wrongfully caught up in that snowball

         17  effect, if you will.

         18                 When police go and they round up the

         19  usual suspects, what do they do? It's usually more

         20  than just one, two, three or four, and before DNA

         21  technology, I mean the police have to do something,

         22  there is nothing necessarily wrong with that

         23  investigative approach, you need to go out and you

         24  need to start talking to people. But the more we use

         25  DNA technology from the get-go, the less people were
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          2  knocking on their door at dinner time, less innocent

          3  people, were knocking on their door at dinner time,

          4  saying, excuse me, sir, we would like to come out

          5  and talk to you, in front of their family.

          6                 The less people that were shown up

          7  for in the workplace saying we would like to talk to

          8  you, and the less number of people who were going to

          9  suffer even the stigma of investigation, even if

         10  from the outset we exclude them from the realm of

         11  possibility.

         12                 So, you can't argue the extent to

         13  which DNA technology will exonerate more people post

         14  conviction, and not recognize that a greater use of

         15  DNA technology from the investigative stage

         16  necessarily goes hand-in-hand with that. And I know

         17  the jurisdiction to which I speak. I understand the

         18  extent to which at least your prior Commissioner was

         19  an advocate for arrestee testing, was an advocate

         20  for suspect testing, you cannot get away from the

         21  extent to which that would help stop the bleeding,

         22  help stop some of the bleeding of wrongful

         23  convictions, to the extent that DNA technology will

         24  help this issue. I say it will help, it is by no

         25  means going to fix the problem of wrongful
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          2  convictions, obviously.

          3                 Of much greater concern, in terms of

          4  wrongful conviction should be, quite frankly, those

          5  cases in which DNA isn't an issue, because then we

          6  don't have a tool to help us decide who is innocent

          7  and who is not.

          8                 So, again, my point today would

          9  necessarily be that in this discussion has to be

         10  made the nexus between increased utilization by law

         11  enforcement to prevent the wrongful convictions in

         12  the first place.

         13                 And with that, again, I thank you for

         14  the opportunity to be here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 I have a couple of questions, I guess

         18  if we could break it down, let's go to bottom line.

         19  How effective is the DNA evidence, and how reliable

         20  are the results?

         21                 MR. ASPLEN: It is a tough question.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: I know that.

         23                 MR. ASPLEN: And let me answer it this

         24  way. It is certainly one of the most powerful

         25  technologies we have right now from a law
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          2  enforcement standpoint, and it is powerful because

          3  it has received unprecedented scrutiny in the court

          4  system and scientifically in the validation process.

          5  It has taken us about ten or 15 years to get to the

          6  point where we use it routinely, that is because

          7  folks none other than the likes of Barry Schech and

          8  Russell Neufeld, et cetera, were extremely,

          9  extremely vigorous in opposing it in the first

         10  place. No technology has ever suffered the scrutiny.

         11                 I don't think that you will often

         12  hear Barry go into court now and argue against the

         13  scientific nature of DNA technology. The issue now

         14  is, is law enforcement using it appropriately, in

         15  terms of, are they collecting it appropriately, is

         16  it being contaminated, et cetera, et cetera. But it

         17  is the most powerful, and right now I think the most

         18  reliable technology that we have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: What about the

         20  cost factor of a DNA test?

         21                 MR. ASPLEN: Cost factor? It depends

         22  on what kind of testing you are talking about, and

         23  the cost factor is going down all the time. If we

         24  are talking about the cost factor in terms of taking

         25  a DNA sample from a crime scene, from crime
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          2  evidence, depending upon the kind of test you are

          3  doing, about $2,000 to $3,000. If what you are

          4  talking about is a convicted offender sample for

          5  input into the DNA base, and the databases are what

          6  are really going to solve crimes very, very quickly,

          7  that costs about $50 a sample. So, often times, you

          8  are talking about in terms of solving a crime or not

          9  solving a crime, thus determining whether or not a

         10  serial rapist, for example, continues on the street,

         11  that difference may be a $50 difference.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, thank you.

         13                 MR. ASPLEN: And I would just add one

         14  thing. As we move closer to the concept and the

         15  practical application of DNA chip technology, which

         16  literally allows us to do hundreds of tests in a

         17  number of seconds, that number will go down

         18  dramatically in five years the cost for DNA testing

         19  will look nothing like it does right now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: There are some

         21  jurisdictions that promoting the concept that we do

         22  DNA testing for all people that have been arrested

         23  so that they build up the databanks, what is your

         24  feeling on that?

         25                 MR. ASPLEN: Well, I wouldn't give you
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          2  my feeling on that. What I can tell you is that

          3  right now, the Commission looked at that particular

          4  issue, and the position that the Commission took was

          5  recognizing that, number one, we are in the infancy

          6  stages of DNA databasing to begin with, and as such,

          7  we want to make sure that the system continues to

          8  work as successfully as it has. We want to ensure

          9  that the databasing, that the outsourcing that is

         10  going on is an effective way to reduce the backlogs.

         11  And it is also recognition that the backlogs that we

         12  have right now are so significant that we want to

         13  learn to walk before we run. As such, the Commission

         14  didn't say no to arrestee testing, what it said was

         15  we should continue first to reduce the backlog of

         16  convicted offender samples, and also reduce the

         17  backlog of crime scene samples, again, New York is a

         18  great example, 17,000 rape kits that have never been

         19  tested for DNA evidence, do that first, and when we

         20  have done that, and when we have gotten that under

         21  our belt, then we can begin the discussion more

         22  appropriately on arrestee testing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         24  Eldridge.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.
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          2                 Could you tell us who is really doing

          3  most of the research on DNA testing? I mean, are

          4  there large pharmaceutical companies that are doing

          5  this, and which ones are the largest?

          6                 MR. ASPLEN: Yes, let me put that in

          7  two contexts. When we talk about DNA testing and DNA

          8  research --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I don't mean

         10  the actual DNA testing, I mean the research.

         11                 MR. ASPLEN: I understand.

         12                 When we talk about the research, what

         13  we kind of need to do is separate out the forensic

         14  application of it, because it is so different than

         15  what we hear about with the genome project, et

         16  cetera, et cetera. As such, those individuals that I

         17  would say -- or those organizations that are doing

         18  most from a forensic standpoint are probably, quite

         19  frankly, the FBI, also government National Institute

         20  of Justice Office of Science and Technology funded

         21  private organizations that are doing research on

         22  things like chip technology, and sequencing, DNA

         23  database sequencing, things like that.

         24                 So, most of the forensic research, I

         25  would suggest, comes out of government funding.
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          2  Although, there are plenty of private laboratories

          3  out there.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Who is

          5  getting the government funds to do the research?

          6                 MR. ASPLEN: There is a company called

          7  -- that was getting it called Antigen. There is a

          8  Dr. Butler who is actually now with I think NIST,

          9  National Institute of Standards and Technology, and

         10  off of the top of my head, those are the ones that I

         11  can think of, aside from again the research branch

         12  at the FBI.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And then

         14  what is the second --

         15                 MR. ASPLEN: And I would also suggest

         16  to you that to the extent that you are interested in

         17  that kind of research component that one of the

         18  greatest resources is the United Kingdom, in terms

         19  of DNA, law enforcement used research, both from a

         20  pure DNA research standpoint, but more importantly I

         21  think from an application standpoint and the success

         22  rates that they have had.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, none of

         24  the traditional large pharmaceutical companies and

         25  engaged in a lot of research are really doing,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            102

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  really in the forefront in the research for this?

          3                 MR. ASPLEN: I wouldn't say

          4  specifically researching for forensic DNA

          5  application purposes, okay? I wouldn't say that

          6  there are many of them out there looking to do

          7  research for forensic applications.

          8                 However, one thing I would add is

          9  that as with most technologies that are used for law

         10  enforcement, they are often the stepchild results of

         11  other research.

         12                 We use DNA technology now, not

         13  because somebody thought it was a good idea to use

         14  DNA technology, to use DNA for solving crimes, it

         15  was because the medical profession came up with,

         16  started coming up with low-sided, it didn't mean

         17  anything to them, and so they kind of gave it over

         18  to the forensic side and said, see if you folks can

         19  do anything with this. It's only recently that we

         20  have begun to think about DNA more from specifically

         21  forensic context.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you,

         24  gentlemen, for your participation.

         25                 Oh, I am sorry, Council Member Lopez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am a little

          3  troubled by your testimony.

          4                 What you are saying, if I understood

          5  you correctly, is that we need to begin looking more

          6  into the question of investigating period of crime

          7  that grant the death penalty possibility, and that

          8  investigatory period that we begin having a policy

          9  that include DNA? Let me articulate this question in

         10  a different way. I am a little confused about what

         11  you just said and I want to make sure that I

         12  understood you.

         13                 In your conversation with us, I

         14  understood that you were talking about that DNA

         15  should become part of a more customary kind of a

         16  investigation that is so far, and that that will

         17  avoid a lot of wrongful convictions, if we begin

         18  using that in a more routine way, from the beginning

         19  of the investigation?

         20                 MR. ASPLEN: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's correct.

         22                 MR. ASPLEN: The more that we use DNA

         23  from an investigative standpoint, the less likely we

         24  are to have wrongful convictions in the first place.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: To begin with.
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          2                 MR. ASPLEN: To begin with, right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: All right,

          4  then. That was the reason I was troubled by that.

          5  Because that doesn't resolve the fundamental issue

          6  of killing somebody under the death penalty.

          7                 MR. ASPLEN: Which is specifically

          8  what I said I was not here to talk about.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

         10                 MR. ASPLEN: I am not here to talk

         11  about the imposition of the death penalty, the

         12  moratorium or anything like that, that is not my

         13  function. I am specifically addressing how the two

         14  interplay. I am not arguing for or against the death

         15  penalty.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

         17  that.

         18                 Thank you very much, I got it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me again

         20  thank you for your participation in this, and I am

         21  certain we will be calling on you in the future as

         22  this begins to percolate even more.

         23                 The next panel will be individuals

         24  that have been touched in one way or another.

         25                 Lawrence Hayes. Rick Van Valkenburg.
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          2  Darby Tillis. Kate Lowenstein and Gary Gauger. Gary

          3  Gauger from the Illinois Coalition.

          4                 For those of you that may not know,

          5  this hearing is being televised on Crosswalks, the

          6  camera is in the balcony, Channel 74. So, you have

          7  got your commercial.

          8                 We will start with Lawrence Hayes.

          9                 MR. HAYES: Good afternoon. My name is

         10  Lawrence Hayes, and I am a former death row prisoner

         11  here in New York State. I would like to thank

         12  members of the Council for making these hearings

         13  possible. I know the Councilman Perkins put a lot

         14  into this and I would like to definitely give him my

         15  deepest appreciation on behalf of myself and the

         16  over 3,600 people now awaiting death throughout the

         17  United States.

         18                 I would like to approach this issue

         19  from basically two perspectives. One is the

         20  perspective of someone who is being processed, the

         21  prisoner perspective.

         22                 I was a member of the Black Panther

         23  Party here in New York State, in Brooklyn, and

         24  basically I ran breakfast programs, set them up, ran

         25  them, breakfast programs, clothing programs, basic
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          2  educational history programs. I ran a martial arts

          3  program on I 35 and 271 in Ocean Hill, Brownsville.

          4  At some point, drugs began to filter into our

          5  community. Those of you who read about the Black

          6  Panther Party and the Cointel Program (phonetic). We

          7  do feel that the government was involved in that

          8  increase of drugs in our communities. But in an

          9  attempt to keep drugs out of the community, myself

         10  and other members of my cell decided that we were

         11  going to rid our community of drugs no matter how

         12  naive that was at the time, and we became quite

         13  sophisticated in doing what we did.

         14                 On one of those particular occasions

         15  we were basically doing surveillance, two of my

         16  comrades went in and I heard gun shots. I ran to the

         17  door, I was brushed up, a comrade fell. Out of that

         18  I was tried, convicted and sentenced to the death

         19  house. I was tried by an all white jury, all male,

         20  average age 55, out of Queens County, it was racist.

         21  And I would like to say that the record, I am here

         22  to challenge the record, the validity of a record in

         23  our court systems that come out of our court

         24  systems.

         25                 My case was orchestrated, it was
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          2  manipulated from beginning to end. Luckily because

          3  of Furman versus Georgia, I was released from the

          4  death house, I wound up spending 20 years in prison

          5  and subsequently released.

          6                 There were certain contradictions.

          7  While I was in prison, I actually got a hold of

          8  records, and prisoner fissues (phonetic). I filed

          9  two cases. Prisoner fissues actually went into the

         10  cell and actually took those documents and destroyed

         11  those documents, along with other research I had

         12  done. And I had filed two class action suits, or two

         13  civil rights suits against the Department of

         14  Corrections because of that.

         15                 But I would like to say to this panel

         16  that there are certain contradictions, I mean very

         17  fundamental contradictions that reduced themselves

         18  from my perspective. First of all, when I walked

         19  into the court room I saw "In God We Trust", and yet

         20  there is a commandment that says"Thou shall not

         21  kill".

         22                 As public officials you swear to

         23  uphold the Constitution of the United States. The

         24  Constitution is not just a procedural document, it

         25  also comes along with a preamble, a spirit, you see
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          2  it comes with a direction, it comes with a set of

          3  moral aptitudes that we should reach toward, and it

          4  says we hold these truths to be self evident that

          5  all men are created equal and endowed with certain

          6  inalienable rights, among which are life, liberty

          7  and the pursuit of happiness.

          8                 Why would the founders of the

          9  Constitution of the United States in the name of the

         10  people of the United States say that life is an

         11  inalienable right? So, it is in your best interest

         12  as upholding the Constitution of the United States

         13  to vote against the death penalty in this country.

         14                 On behalf of the over 3,600 people

         15  sitting in death houses across this country, and

         16  let's be plain now, you know, because Ms. Lopez

         17  said, you know, is it being done in my name? Yes.

         18  Thirty-six hundred men and women are right now

         19  sentenced to death and sentenced to die in your

         20  name, that is a massacre. That is a massacre by any

         21  other terms. Our country is about to massacre that

         22  many people.

         23                 I see that my time is up. And, so, I

         24  say to this panel, I appreciate your effort, and I

         25  do hope that this panel and the full Council will
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          2  eventually vote for a moratorium, keeping in mind

          3  that the complete abolition of this horrific

          4  practice and barbaric practice is our ultimate goal.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          7  much. I just have a couple of questions.

          8                 You said you were a victim basically

          9  of Cointel, so you must have been around 18 years

         10  old maybe when this happened?

         11                 MR. HAYES: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And you spent 20

         13  years in jail?

         14                 MR. HAYES: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: So you were

         16  accused of the shots, and it appears that you were

         17  somewhere far away from where the shots were shot,

         18  and then you ran to the location?

         19                 MR. HAYES: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And you got

         21  caught up in the actual crime.

         22                 Did you get an apology from the

         23  State?

         24                 MR. HAYES: No, I didn't get an

         25  apology. In fact, I wound up serving -- I was
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          2  released because of Furman versus Georgia, the

          3  Supreme Court case which abolished the death penalty

          4  in 1972, and I was released from New York State

          5  death house in November of 1974. When I was in

          6  Europe, I did a tour in Europe, and people were

          7  absolutely amazed that the idea that I had no gun, I

          8  was not there, and yet, I was in the death house,

          9  and I am saying to you, that people are concerned,

         10  there are people who are concerned about the

         11  validity of the record that our criminal justice

         12  system produces from the point that it throws

         13  handcuffs on a man and charges a man or a woman to

         14  the point that that woman or man is found guilty or

         15  innocent. People are concerned about the validity of

         16  what the record produces. If you read my record it

         17  would look like I was some kind of criminal who went

         18  in and shot up this place. It would not say that I

         19  was under surveillance, that my team was under

         20  surveillance and manipulated down the line until

         21  this particular moment.

         22                 When I told the truth to my defense

         23  counsel, and I will say to you that the District

         24  Attorney in my case was disbarred for taking bribes

         25  from organized criminals a year after I was in
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          2  prison, the Judge in my case was cited in a New

          3  Yorker Magazine investigative article by Jack Neuman

          4  as being one of the ten worst judges in New York

          5  State because of his favoritism to organized crime,

          6  and the lawyer in my case wound up being a lawyer

          7  who frequented organized crime clients. When I tried

          8  to tell this man exactly what is happening, he said,

          9  I will have none of that. He says, if you want to

         10  get out of this, then you do what I got there, you

         11  follow what I say, and he wrote out something and he

         12  told me to say it, and I didn't know any different

         13  so I did it, you see. But the validity of the record

         14  and the search for truth in a criminal justice

         15  system must be made a priority, but, yet, there is

         16  nothing in our law that says that truth must be

         17  gotten out of a criminal proceeding. And this is the

         18  same system the executes people daily now, almost

         19  daily, weekly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Please state your name for the

         23  record.

         24                 MR. TILLIS: My name is Darby Tillis.

         25  To Council Member Perkins and others on the panel,
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          2  hopefully what I share can shed some light on this

          3  barbaric situation.

          4                 I am one of almost 450 persons in

          5  this country who was convicted of a capital crime

          6  and later found to be innocent. I spent nine years,

          7  one month and 17 days incarcerated for a crime that

          8  I did not commit. I was tried five times, more than

          9  anybody in the history of the United States.

         10                 My ordeal of horror started December

         11  8, 1777 when I walked into the police station of my

         12  own free will to inquire about rumors that I had

         13  heard concerning the police wanting to talk to me,

         14  which subsequently led to me being arrested and

         15  charged with a crime that I knew nothing about.

         16                 I was placed with two other men, one

         17  white one black, who became my co-defendants after I

         18  refused to lie on them for a sum of $5,000 and my

         19  freedom in exchange for their life.

         20                 The first trial started with all

         21  motions being denied except for my white

         22  co-defendant, who was given a motion of severance in

         23  attempt to force him to testify for freedom in

         24  exchange for my life and my co-defendant's life, who

         25  was also black, like myself.
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          2                 My black co-defendants and I battled

          3  the courts for three trials before being convicted

          4  on the third trial. The first two trials ended up

          5  being in hung juries.

          6                 I was convicted by an all white jury.

          7  Our co-defendant who was charged with the same crime

          8  received time considered served for attempted

          9  robbery and was set free, he never went to trial.

         10  Our white co-defendant who denied having no

         11  knowledge of this crime was coerced by the police

         12  and assistant state attorney to admit being a

         13  participant in this crime in order to conceal the

         14  conspiracy against these two black co-defendants and

         15  confirm the conviction.

         16                 My sentence, along with my black

         17  co-defendants, was the death penalty for murder and

         18  two 30 to 60 year sentences to run currently for

         19  robbery.

         20                 I spent time on death row in all

         21  three maximum Illinois security prisons, Stateview,

         22  Ponack and Minard (phonetically spelled). Seventeen

         23  months of the time I was held hostage by my

         24  attorney. What that means is we sat there helpless

         25  while our attorneys did nothing.
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          2                 After over four years spent on death

          3  row waiting to die, I won my appeal, all seven

          4  judges of the Illinois Supreme Court rules in my

          5  favor. My case was then reversed and remanded back

          6  to the trial court. I was then brought back to Cook

          7  County Jail while I was tried two more times, one

          8  trial ending in a hung jury and the other finally

          9  ending in acquittal.

         10                 The death penalty serves as a popular

         11  symbol for politicians, judges, prosecutors and

         12  police officials. Most attorneys who tried death

         13  penalty cases were unskilled or fatigued because of

         14  too heavy caseloads. States attorneys lie and

         15  mislead to win so they can propagate their

         16  profession for monetary gain, write a book, movie

         17  deal. Crooked judges for political reasons sanction

         18  their lies manufactured by the State's Attorneys

         19  Office and racist policemen and jurors, and because

         20  of the upsurge of crime, almost every family has

         21  been touched by crime directly or indirectly. So a

         22  guilty vote for the death penalty is getting even

         23  for a loved one or a friend. But I say to you today,

         24  how long will you allow the judges and state's

         25  attorneys, policemen with their lies use words with
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          2  temptation of facts, how long can they keep the

          3  violent people terrorized and alive with hatred and

          4  fury?

          5                 So, I say to you, who are custodians

          6  of this criminal justice system, I would say to you,

          7  get politics out of the death penalty.

          8                 Death row is a horrible shock to a

          9  man, you are killed all day long with pain and

         10  loneliness of a racist administration, a place where

         11  inmates become the pleasure of racist guards, that

         12  feel their jobs are political prestige. Capital

         13  punishment violates the respect to human beings. I

         14  was used and abused to get a message to the public

         15  at the expense of my life, innocent, put up to

         16  ridicule, powerless, desperate, and frustrated. I

         17  sat helpless while my mother suffered in pain and in

         18  filth in a convalescent home, and my daughter was

         19  neglected, assaulted and sexually abused. The day I

         20  traveled a nightmarish road filled with pain, horror

         21  and poverty. Being set free at 44 years of age, with

         22  no money, no therapeutic treatment. Men acquitted

         23  need a decompression period of rest between the

         24  trauma and the outside life. The torch is gone but

         25  the fear lingers on. As of yesterday I have been
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          2  released for 14 years and still I have never been

          3  compensated, and nine years without touch, without

          4  parental touch, is nine years without my loved ones

          5  and it is just nine years of hell, unwanted hell.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          8  much for your very poignant story.

          9                 Mr. Van Valkenburg.

         10                 MR. VAN VALKENBURG: Yes, I am Rick

         11  Van Valkenburg, and I live here in Manhattan in the

         12  Village.

         13                 I am here on behalf of my wife Mary

         14  and my mother-in-law Antoinette Bosco, and other

         15  members of the family.

         16                 One night years ago, in August of

         17  1993, the phone rang, and it was a call bearing the

         18  kind of horrible news that one most fears hearing,

         19  and it's a phone call that always seems to happen so

         20  unexpected. My wife was out. She is a singer, she

         21  was out rehearsing that night, and when she was

         22  coming home from the subway I heard her coming down

         23  the block on her way home, and she was singing. I

         24  heard her voice coming closer and closer up the

         25  block, while I wait for her with the news that her
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          2  brother John and wife Nancy had been shot to death

          3  by an intruder in the bedroom of their home in Big

          4  Fork, Montana. They had been killed on August 12th,

          5  but because they were about to leave on vacation,

          6  they weren't missed right away, their bodies weren't

          7  found until August 19th, 1993.

          8                 So, we know firsthand about the kind

          9  of horror, the kind of impact that a capital crime

         10  can have on a family, and on the survivors. We see

         11  how there seems to be a quick tendency to blame the

         12  victims, people, I guess it is only natural, want to

         13  reassure themselves that it couldn't happen to us,

         14  you know, we want to point the fingers at the lives

         15  of the victims who somehow think that, well, maybe

         16  there was some kind of karmic purpose to it.

         17                 We would like to diminish their

         18  humanity in some way that will make the horror

         19  somehow more comprehensible.

         20                 Well, John Bosco was a physically

         21  powerful man, and he was a man of uncompromising

         22  principle, and his wife was just a wonderful person,

         23  incredibly full of love.

         24                 Capital punishment is not a

         25  deterrent, it certainly did not serve to keep the
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          2  killer who was later found to be an 18-year-old boy

          3  who had once lived in the house that they had

          4  recently purchased, his name Joseph Shadow Clark.

          5  The death penalty in Montana did not prevent him

          6  from carrying out that crime.

          7                 As a family of murder victims, we had

          8  a choice not to be paralyzed with hatred, with a

          9  desire for retribution. We refuse to be affected by

         10  an unquenchable thirst for revenge.

         11                 We are against executions carried out

         12  by the state because we care deeply about humanity,

         13  society, our city, our nation, and how our nation

         14  looks to the rest of the world.

         15                 When the state kills, it rends an

         16  ever-deepening wound in the psyche of our country.

         17  The imposition of the death penalty is actually an

         18  act of disrespect to the victims. One life does not

         19  justify the taking of another life. You know,

         20  recently in the news they have announced that they

         21  are going to seek the death penalty against one of

         22  the killers in the Wendy's restaurant, one of the

         23  accused killers. You know, it made me think that it

         24  may very well be that the death penalty contributes

         25  to massacres of this type, because the criminal may
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          2  very well feel that he has to eliminate all of the

          3  witnesses to a crime in the mistaken belief that

          4  that might protect his own life.

          5                 So, it is with these thoughts that I

          6  want to encourage you all to support the resolution

          7  supporting the moratorium, and I would also pray

          8  that at some time they would eliminate the death

          9  penalty all together, and that people would stop

         10  hurting one another.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Ms. Lowenstein.

         14                 State your name for the record.

         15                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: My name is Kate

         16  Lowenstein. Thank you very much for giving me the

         17  opportunity to speak to you today.

         18                 My father was murdered in his law

         19  office in this City. I understand the rage, the pain

         20  and the sense of justice that lead people to support

         21  the death penalty. Those that support the death

         22  penalty do so because they believe it is an

         23  appropriate act, expression of society's horror at

         24  the act of murder, and that the execution of

         25  murderers is just. I came here today not because I
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          2  don't want killers held responsible, but because I

          3  believe we cannot express our reverence for life and

          4  our love of justice by turning a blind eye to

          5  problems that plague our criminal justice system.

          6                 I am a member of Murder Victims

          7  Families for Reconciliation. It is a national

          8  organization of people who have had a loved one

          9  murdered but oppose the death penalty being carried

         10  out in our name and in the name of justice.

         11                 Victims family members are as diverse

         12  as humanity. I do not claim to speak for all murder

         13  victims family members, but I came today because I

         14  think it is important for you to know that we are

         15  out here, people's whose hearts are broken forever,

         16  but despite our anger at the killer, we do not want

         17  any part of the system of justice that is deeply

         18  flawed.

         19                 I ask you today for a clear moral

         20  call for a death penalty moratorium, because even

         21  when we are in the most personal pain, after the

         22  murder of a loved one we cannot turn our hearts and

         23  minds away from the realities of how the death

         24  penalty truly works.

         25                 My dad would never look away when so
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          2  many inequities are the standard of our justice

          3  system and so neither can I. The horrible reality

          4  for those of us who have lost loved ones to

          5  homicide, is that nothing that happens to their

          6  murderers is going to bring them back. Let us

          7  therefore reject the death penalty and in so doing

          8  turn our attention from working toward vengeance

          9  with the flawed justice to working on creating a

         10  society that exists on par with the hopes that we

         11  all have for it, one that is safe, just and equal.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Mr. Gauger.

         16                 MR. GAUGER: My name is Gary Gauger.

         17  Thank you for inviting me to speak here today. I

         18  will just try to explain how the death penalty in

         19  this country has impacted on me.

         20                 In April of 1993, I found my father

         21  lying face down in the garage where he worked in a

         22  pool of blood. I thought he had fallen, had a heart

         23  attack, fallen and hit his head. I called the

         24  paramedics. They called the police. My mother was

         25  missing, we found her body in a rug shop in front of
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          2  the house about an hour later. Immediately upon

          3  finding my mother's body, the police arrested me. I

          4  was held and interrogated for approximately 22

          5  hours, from noon until 10:00 the next morning. The

          6  police claim that I voluntarily went to the police

          7  station, even though Appellate Court ruled the

          8  arrest was illegal. The police claimed that I

          9  chatted with them until 5:00 in the morning when I

         10  confessed, even though that is not what happened.

         11                 What happened was the police

         12  illegally held me, wouldn't let me go, fabricated a

         13  confession. Nothing was signed, nothing was written

         14  down. There was no evidence, no physical evidence

         15  against me. I was charged with murder. At trial no

         16  physical evidence was produced, not motive was

         17  produced, no confession was produced except what the

         18  police had made up and it wasn't even factually

         19  true. An autopsy showed that the details they had

         20  preliminarily obtained were false.

         21                 The jury deliberated less than three

         22  hours before finding me guilty. I was subsequently

         23  sentenced to die.

         24                 My penalty phase consisted of a

         25  prison psychologist asking me if I could name the
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          2  last preceding presidents in descending order. I did

          3  that. He said I was sane enough to kill.

          4                 The other part of my penalty phase

          5  was at my sentencing date, my attorney pointed out

          6  that friends and family had written letters to ask

          7  to spare my life, the judge hadn't even read the

          8  letters yet. He excused himself for 20 minutes, came

          9  back later and sentenced me to die. These were

         10  letters written not only by my friends and my

         11  supporters, but friends and supporters of my

         12  parents.

         13                 I would like to talk a little bit

         14  about what has happened since I have been

         15  exonerated. I was exonerated by Professor Larry

         16  Marshall, and 60 of his students, working pro bono

         17  to get me to win my appeal at the appellate level.

         18  The one Councilman asked would money help fix the

         19  problem. My original legal team was billing us at a

         20  rate of $400 an hour. The final bill came to

         21  $210,000. If Larry Marshall had billed me at the

         22  rate he billed corporate clients and his students

         23  working with him, the bill would have come to

         24  $600,000. They put over 2,000 hours in my case to

         25  get an appeal that would sway the Appellate Court.
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          2                 Since my release, I have been

          3  fortunate enough to tour the country speaking

          4  against the death penalty, including Michigan where

          5  I did a three-day tour at Universities and the

          6  Michigan Bar Association. Michigan is very proud of

          7  the fact that they never had the death penalty.

          8  Apparently in 1848 an innocent man was hung and a

          9  newly founding state, the people were so appalled,

         10  they passed a law barring the death penalty in

         11  Michigan forever. It's ironic the man that was hung

         12  and was innocent was actually in Canada across the

         13  river, and they were so appalled by the thought of

         14  killing an innocent man they banned the death

         15  penalty.

         16                 This was revisited in the 1960s when

         17  a republican congress took the initiative to pass a

         18  law which was overwhelmingly passed, prohibiting the

         19  death penalty in Michigan. They are very proud of

         20  the fact that they never had the death penalty in

         21  Michigan.

         22                 I testified in Massachusetts, they

         23  don't have the death penalty. They also have one of

         24  the lowest crime rates in the country. They are very

         25  proud of the fact. The death penalty is not a
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          2  deterrent. As Barry Schech briefly pointed out and

          3  Professor Ratliff of Miami University has written

          4  about, there seems to be a brutality effect in

          5  states that have the death penalty, in the month of

          6  the death penalty and month afterward, the homicide

          7  rate in those states tends to rise.

          8                 I can from my own personal experience

          9  state, when I was in Statesville, the year I was

         10  arrested, the Illinois murder rate among prisoners

         11  was 1.1 prisoners per year. I was in Statesville for

         12  22 months. In the 22 months I was at Statesville,

         13  there were nine murders at Statesville. Five people

         14  were murdered by the state. That is where they hold

         15  executions, four people were murdered by other

         16  prisoners. Four prisoners killed each other. There

         17  is definitely a brutality effect running in this

         18  country. Killing begets killing, it is wrong. We

         19  have to abolish it.

         20                 Look at it first, try to fix the

         21  legal system. Hold prosecutors accountable. Hold the

         22  police accountable. I counted 150 instances of

         23  police perjury at my trial looking over transcripts.

         24  The police should have been fired and tried for

         25  perjury. Instead, they were given promotions. They
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          2  are still in power. It is happening today, it

          3  happened then and we have to do something to stop

          4  it.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Are there any questions?

          9                 Okay, I want to thank you for

         10  sharing.

         11                 Yes.

         12                 MR. VAN VALKENBURG: I just wanted to

         13  note before this panel ends that Ms. Lowenstein was

         14  too modest to mention that her father who was

         15  murdered was the Civil Rights and Human Rights

         16  leader, Al Lowenstein, and his loss is one that we

         17  are still feeling.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Indeed.

         20                 I want to thank you for coming in and

         21  sharing with us, and be assured, we are looking at

         22  this issue very seriously. You have been hurt by the

         23  system, damaged by the system, and we want to do

         24  what we can to potentially eliminate the possibility

         25  that other innocent individuals will be damaged as

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            127

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  you were.

          3                 Thank you for sharing.

          4                 The next panel, William Nieves, Lucy

          5  Herschel and Nancy Hoffman and Tibby Brooks.

          6                 Mr. Nieves, if you would identify

          7  yourself for the record, and proceed.

          8                 MR. NIEVES: My name is William

          9  Nieves, a 35-year-old Philadelphia native, who spent

         10  eight years of my life incarcerated, six of these

         11  years were spent on Pennsylvania death row for a

         12  crime I did not commit. Since my release I have

         13  dedicated my life to speaking about the conditions

         14  and the politics of capital punishment in the United

         15  States.

         16                 My frightening story began in the

         17  summer month of July of 1994, when I was convicted

         18  of first degree murder and given a death sentence.

         19                 Defense counsel, who had never

         20  handled a capital case, and was only paid a total of

         21  $2,500, presented no witnesses, gave virtually no

         22  defense at both the guilt and sentencing phase.

         23                 Once imprisoned I began to research

         24  the details of my own case and found that trial

         25  counsel had given me inaccurate advice which
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          2  vitiated my decision to testify in my own defense.

          3                 After soliciting representation of an

          4  experienced capital case defense attorney and former

          5  prosecutor, in 1997 I was able to convince the trial

          6  judge to grant a retrial based on ineffective

          7  assistance of legal counsel.

          8                 For the next three years Philadelphia

          9  Assistant District Attorney Roger Keane fought the

         10  Judge's Order. Finally, in February 17, 2000, the

         11  Pennsylvania Supreme Court upheld the earlier trial

         12  judge ruling and I was granted a new trial.

         13                 In preparation for the retrial, new

         14  defense counsel was able to assess crucial files

         15  previously withheld from the defense during the

         16  first trial.

         17                 Among the evidence were statements

         18  given to the Philadelphia Police Department by an

         19  eye witness describing the perpetrator as a short

         20  African-American male, apparently I am a Latino,

         21  average height, and light skin complexion.

         22                 At the hearing an eyewitness

         23  testified to this and state (sic) that I was not the

         24  perpetrator.  The jury returned a unanimous verdict

         25  of not guilty on October 20th, 2000.
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          2                 I was subsequently released from

          3  prison on October 23rd, one week prior to my 35th

          4  birthday. I was gladly reunited with my family,

          5  including my ten-year-old daughter who was only two

          6  years old when I was arrested and held without a

          7  bail at a Philadelphia County prison pending trial.

          8                 While in prison, I earned the respect

          9  of other death row prisoners and prison staff alike.

         10  I was actively involved in my own defense and aided

         11  other prisoners in their legal work and was

         12  disturbed to find in their cases the same type of

         13  misconduct by police and prosecutor, which was

         14  proven in my case.

         15                 Since my recent release, I have

         16  traveled extensively across Pennsylvania, sharing

         17  the story of my ordeal and calling for the abolition

         18  of the death penalty.

         19                 Most recently I had the privilege of

         20  meeting with members from the community of

         21  Sant'Egidio, Amnesty International and Sister Helen

         22  Prejan, here in New York City, to deliver nearly 3

         23  million signatures for a worldwide moratorium on the

         24  death penalty to United Nations Secretary Kofi

         25  Annan.
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          2                 Currently I am employed as Community

          3  Organizer with Pennsylvania Abolitionists United

          4  Against the Death Penalty, where my responsibilities

          5  include corresponding with death row prisoners,

          6  working with their families, and organizing

          7  community and religious groups in support of an

          8  immediate moratorium on executions.

          9                 Additionally, I have begun

         10  undergraduate studies at Community College of

         11  Philadelphia, where I was previously attending at

         12  the time of my wrongful arrest.

         13                 Today, I am asking the Council of the

         14  City of New York to take into consideration my

         15  tragic story when deciding on the passing of

         16  Resolution 1473, urging Governor George Pataki to

         17  follow the lead of Governor George Ryan of Illinois

         18  and declear a moratorium in New York State.

         19                 I would like to add as I sat here

         20  today and heard the issue of deterrence, while this

         21  past Saturday, while speaking to a group of

         22  juveniles who are incarcerated in prison in the

         23  Philadelphia County prison system, I was approached

         24  by this young man who was only 16 years old, an

         25  African-American man, a young man, and he said to me
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          2  how hypocritical it could be that politicians would

          3  allow the killing of people throughout this country,

          4  and yet, attempt to give him a life sentence while

          5  being a juvenile.

          6                 This made me think, if the death

          7  penalty was not law today, whether this young man

          8  would be in the situation that he is in.

          9                 So, I thank you very much for

         10  inviting me here today, and I hope that my story, as

         11  well as the countless story of others, who are

         12  narrowly escaping executions across this country,

         13  will lead the City of New York to reconsider the way

         14  many of our states administer the death penalty and

         15  join the belief held by United Nations Secretary

         16  Kofi Annan, that the forfeiture of life is too

         17  absolute, too irreversible for one human being to

         18  inflict it on another, even when backed by legal

         19  process.

         20                 Thank you once again.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         22  much, Mr. Nieves.

         23                 Nancy Hoffman.

         24                 MS. HOFFMAN: Hello. Thank you,

         25  Council Members, for permitted me to be here today.
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          2  My name is Nancy Hoffman, and I am speaking on

          3  behalf of Amnesty International. Although Amnesty is

          4  an international organization, I bring with me the

          5  urgency that is felt by the local groups here in New

          6  York, Group 9, of which I am a member in the West

          7  Village, Group 11 on the Upper West Side, Group 280

          8  on the East Side, and Group 27 in Brooklyn. All of

          9  these groups work with my group eliminating the

         10  death penalty, and we have worked in harmony with

         11  many coalition groups here in New York, and this is

         12  really a wonderful thing that we have arrived, and

         13  thank you, Council Member Perkins, especially.

         14                 New York has not carried out an

         15  execution since 1963. Before this time it is

         16  believed that the State executed eight innocent

         17  individuals in the 20th century. Amnesty

         18  International regards the death penalty in all its

         19  forms as a violation of the right to be free from

         20  torture.

         21                 Amnesty's mandate is quite limited.

         22  We work on behalf of prisoners of conscience, and we

         23  work against torture, and we have opened the mandate

         24  to work against slavery, female genital mutilation,

         25  and that's about it. We work on very limited issues.
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          2  And the death penalty, as a form of torture, is very

          3  much a focus of Amnesty's work.

          4                 By calling for a moratorium on the

          5  death penalty, New York will give continuing

          6  recognition to an international trend. Every year

          7  more and more countries codify into law their

          8  reluctance to execute prisoners. France did so in

          9  '81, Argentina and Australia in '84, Haiti in '87,

         10  Romania in '89, and Czech Republic, Hungary,

         11  Ireland, Mozambique and Namibia in 1990. In '99

         12  alone, Albania, Bermuda, Cyprus, East Timor, Latvia,

         13  Nepal, Turkmenistan, and Ukraine all effectively

         14  abolished the death penalty. In the Year 2000, the

         15  Ivory Coast and Malta also officially stopped

         16  executing its citizens.

         17                 Is it sheer coincidence, we have to

         18  think, looking outside of New York's concerns, is it

         19  sheer coincidence that so many countries in recent

         20  years have abolished use of the death penalty as

         21  part of the transition to a more democratic form of

         22  government. In countries as diverse as Haiti,

         23  Paraguay, Romania, Spain, Portugal, and Namibia, the

         24  death penalty was abolished when dictatorships came

         25  to an end.
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          2                 Similarly, in 1990, South Africa, the

          3  government of apartheid, declared a moratorium on

          4  the death penalty when it released Nelson Mandela

          5  and opened negotiations with the African National

          6  Congress. The South African reckoning with the death

          7  penalty reached culmination in '95 when capital

          8  punishment was abolished altogether in the new

          9  African constitution.

         10                 It is an awkward fact that the four

         11  countries who account for over 80 percent of

         12  judicial executions in the entire world are the

         13  United States, China, Iran and Saudi Arabia. Why

         14  should the United States count itself among such

         15  countries as these, along with the embarrassing

         16  company of Iraq, Malaysia, and Syria, when Canada,

         17  France, Ireland, Israel, Italy and the United

         18  Kingdom, countries whose political traditions we

         19  claim to share, have completely abolished a death

         20  penalty which these nation-friends consider

         21  ineffective, outdated and barbaric? I would suggest

         22  to you that they look at it as something like public

         23  whipping or cutting off of a hand and it is very

         24  embarrassing to talk to a European colleague who

         25  can't fathom our fascination with what is in fact
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          2  and old fashioned practice, besides being heinous in

          3  every way.

          4                 Members of Amnesty International

          5  share the concern of all citizens about violent

          6  crime in our communities. And above all, respect the

          7  suffering of survivors of violent crime. An

          8  execution is the ultimate form of torture, however.

          9  If it is wrong to attach electrodes to a prisoner in

         10  order to cause her pain but not to kill her, as

         11  happened to thousands of political dissidents in

         12  Chile under Pinochet, then it is surely wrong to

         13  attach electrodes to her body in order to kill her

         14  outright.

         15                 Similarly, in the Soviet Union it was

         16  considered a form of torture to inject

         17  anti-psychotic drugs into healthy people because of

         18  their political dissent. And so it is that lethal

         19  injection in regard to the death penalty in

         20  administering it is in fact a severe and

         21  unacceptable violation of human rights.

         22                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         23  present the views of Amnesty International, and its

         24  many active and supportive members in New York State

         25  and New York City. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          3  much for your testimony.

          4                 Lucy Herschel.

          5                 MS. HERSCHEL: Good afternoon. I want

          6  to thank the City Council Members who made today

          7  possible and all of you here to listen to many hours

          8  of testimony. I am not going to take up too much

          9  more of your time, because I think that we have

         10  heard the reasons for a moratorium, from the massive

         11  injustice that is being exposed around the country

         12  around this issue to the fact that the death penalty

         13  did not play a role in deterrence, or making our

         14  society safer, to the fact, as Nancy Hoffman just

         15  pointed out, and the rest of the world has

         16  disregarded this barbaric practice, and it is time

         17  for the US to do the same.

         18                 I just want to let everyone here know

         19  and the City Council know, that this is, I want to

         20  emphasize that this is a historic moment right now

         21  when it comes to this penalty.

         22                 I do believe that if the New York

         23  City Council passes a resolution for a moratorium on

         24  the death penalty, this will have a massive effect,

         25  just as the moratorium in Illinois opened the door,
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          2  opened the door nationally to people really looking

          3  at this issue. I believe the American public has

          4  been sold a bill of goods when it comes to the death

          5  penalty. They have been sold a bill of goods that

          6  says, support the death penalty and we will make

          7  your streets safer, and that has turned out to be

          8  not true. In fact, our streets have become more

          9  dangerous, because people like William Nieves get

         10  locked up for doing nothing, people like Darby

         11  Tillis, people like Gary Gauger and many, many more.

         12  The world actually became much more dangerous for

         13  them when the death penalty was reinstated.

         14                 The tide is turning nationally when

         15  it comes to this issue. The more that people know

         16  about the reality of what is going on, prosecutorial

         17  misconduct, police misconduct, et cetera, the more

         18  they are coming to oppose the death penalty, and we

         19  will continue this fight and we will continue to

         20  shine the light on the death penalty, so that more

         21  people do see exactly what is going on.

         22                 A lot of people worked very hard to

         23  make this hearing happen today, and I just want to

         24  let the City Council know that we will continue to

         25  work hard, whatever it takes, in fact, to make sure
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          2  that this resolution goes forward.

          3                 I know we have the support of many

          4  people on the City Council, however, there have been

          5  obstacles and we will continue to fight, do whatever

          6  it takes, to make that happen, because I believe it

          7  is very important. As your probably know, both the

          8  cities of Rochester and Buffalo have already passed

          9  resolutions for a moratorium on the death penalty,

         10  it is time for New York City to take the lead as

         11  well in this issue, and in doing so showing the

         12  world the majority of New York residents are

         13  actually against the death penalty, that we know.

         14  Showing the world and the country that the New York

         15  City residents want a halt to executions nationally,

         16  we want to halt executions in this state as well,

         17  and we will continue to fight until we get rid of

         18  the death penalty in this country.

         19                 So, I want to thank you all for

         20  letting us speak here today.

         21                 You have the information, it's been

         22  an amazing session, and I encourage you to be

         23  vigilant to make sure that this resolution passes so

         24  that we can build this fight. I do believe it will

         25  have a rippling effect across the country in our
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          2  fight and continue the struggle on.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 The next panel -- yes, my sister,

          7  Margarita Lopez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Your testimony

          9  if fascinating, particularly the information that

         10  you provided us, with the three countries, the other

         11  three countries that the United States alienate

         12  themselves in the issue of death penalty, China,

         13  Iran and Saudi Arabia having the most cases of

         14  people being killed through the death penalty.

         15                 MS. HOFFMAN: Per capita I believe

         16  that the United States actually has more deaths,

         17  state sanctioned murders than China.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Than China.

         19                 MS. HOFFMAN: Per capita, yes. I

         20  believe so.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just wanted

         22  to ask you a question. Do you happen to know what

         23  was the debate that occurred in the countries that

         24  are more similar to the United States allegedly,

         25  when they eliminated totally the death penalty.
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          2                 MS. HOFFMAN: A friend in Britain

          3  talked to me about this, and she said that it is

          4  because the violence with which their constitutions

          5  came into effect was such that the death penalty was

          6  eliminated early on, and, so, they have long

          7  traditions of not having punishment by death. The

          8  United States is very involved in its wild west kind

          9  of mentality where guns and the individual sense of

         10  justice in isolated places in the west made a

         11  summary killing of criminals sometimes necessary in

         12  places where there were not governments. For

         13  instance, the towns and so on out west when the mail

         14  was coming through and so on, criminals had to be

         15  stopped, and, so, there is something in our

         16  mentality, the hugeness of our country, the kind of

         17  lawlessness in the early days, that made people

         18  taking the law into their own hands more a part of

         19  our national temperament than it is in Europe where

         20  of course laws and governing bodies were in command

         21  of every inch of Europe, it was completely covered

         22  in that way.

         23                 So, the United States simply has a

         24  different tradition in these matters.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And can you
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          2  tell me if you know the manner in which China, Iran

          3  and Saudi Arabia implement the death penalty, if you

          4  know?

          5                 MS. HOFFMAN: Most often by rifle.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: By rifle?

          7                 MS. HOFFMAN: By gunfire. I believe

          8  so. Firing squad it is called.

          9                 We don't do that. We have cleaned it

         10  up. We realize we have to make some gesture to the

         11  European sense of good taste, let us say, in this

         12  matter. And so we have found what is to some people

         13  the logical solution, sanitizing death, in effect,

         14  with electricity, gas and so on.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, I am

         16  sorry, but I almost said to you that frying somebody

         17  with electricity doesn't sound sanitization to me in

         18  any way, shape or form. Actually, when I think about

         19  it, between being shot with a gun and being fried

         20  with electricity, I wonder which one I will select.

         21                 MS. HOFFMAN: But we are trying to

         22  make peace here. I mean, we, the American people by

         23  and large, are simply not revisiting the death

         24  penalty because it is in fact a very difficult,

         25  difficult, difficult issue, and, so, you can see
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          2  where this difficulty shows itself in making death

          3  cleaner by using electricity and gas instead of

          4  bloody hanging, for instance, which is one of the

          5  most vile ways of killing a person, dismemberment,

          6  and the other ways we could in fact kill if we

          7  changed to public dismemberment of people

          8  immediately. The American people would not stand for

          9  the death penalty, and Ron Taback has said in the

         10  most cogent talk about the unfairness of the law,

         11  and only the unfairness of the law is enough to make

         12  you loathe the death penalty, if the American people

         13  knew, if they only knew, but the discussion is

         14  suppressed, and that is why we honor the Council for

         15  simply bringing the discussion out to the people.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         17                 MS. HERSCHEL: Council Member Lopez,

         18  if I may? I do believe there is one state that still

         19  has a firing squad on the books, Wyoming, and there

         20  is one state that also still has hanging also on the

         21  books. And I think you bring up a good point, as

         22  well, the brutality. It is very telling that you

         23  can't find a very humane way to kill someone, it is

         24  kind of counter to killing someone, and there has

         25  been a lot of debate over the electric chair
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          2  specifically. Specifically the electric chair in

          3  Florida, that they called "Old Sparky" that was

          4  responsible for setting several people on fire,

          5  flames shooting out of people's heads, et cetera.

          6  But even lethal injection, you know, hard to imagine

          7  how horrific that can be, someone in Florida who was

          8  strapped down to the gurney at one point with the

          9  needle in his arm when there was a rumor that there

         10  was going to be a last minute stay, and remained

         11  there for an extended period of time with the needle

         12  in his arm waiting for the lethal chemicals to be

         13  administered, not knowing if he had a hope or not.

         14  And I do think that it is very telling, that it is

         15  very difficult to find any kind of way to kill

         16  someone that is not just horrific. And in fact,

         17  there has been a lot of people coming out, the

         18  people who are responsible for administering these

         19  executions, coming and talking about how it has

         20  affected their own lives.

         21                 I mean, someone talked earlier about,

         22  I think Russ Neufeld, about the brutalitizing effect

         23  of the death penalty affecting the family members,

         24  et cetera, beyond and beyond, but also the people

         25  who have to strap one leg down, strap the right leg
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          2  down, administer the chemicals, these people have

          3  begun to speak out and talk about, you know, the

          4  nervous breakdowns that they have suffered, the kind

          5  of horrible dreams that they have suffered for being

          6  responsible for carrying out state sanction murder.

          7  Indeed the effects ripple throughout everyone

          8  involved in the process.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         10  Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Just a quick

         12  follow-up.

         13                 I am reminded of the linching that

         14  was so "popular" in this country, and I am reminded

         15  that one way to expose it is particularly through

         16  the black media, and represent the horror of it in

         17  terms of the contradiction, in terms of what we

         18  stand for and what we are all about, and I am

         19  wondering, in that light, what your thinking would

         20  be about televised executions?

         21                 MS. HOFFMAN: It would be another step

         22  inexposing, as you suggest. You may know that any

         23  execution is usually done at midnight in the dark

         24  when most people will not be coming out of their

         25  homes and so on, and people are not on the job as it
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          2  were, there are less people around to participate in

          3  the goings on that surround the death penalty. So,

          4  it is an interesting thought.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I recall a

          6  few years ago, I don't know if it was Phil Donohue,

          7  one of those talk show hosts, was considering, maybe

          8  it was Geraldo? I think it was Phil Donohue, was

          9  considering trying to television for one of his

         10  shows an execution that was taking place at the

         11  time. It is obviously not an idea that I relish,

         12  that I just --

         13                 MR. HOFFMAN: It could backfire on

         14  you, you know. The Gladiators and all of that

         15  brought out quite a crowd in Rome and you might find

         16  that it gets sports sponsorships and you can't

         17  imagine what might go one with a death penalty on

         18  TV. After all, boxing is still quite popular and I

         19  don't know, I think I would keep that one under --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I guess

         21  I am looking at it more from -- not from a sport

         22  entertainment perspective, but more from an expose',

         23  just a perspective similar to how when we fought

         24  some of the drug wars you went into the crack houses

         25  and you went into the drug dens and showed the
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          2  horror of the experience, as well as with some other

          3  issues. I am not promoting any idea, I am just

          4  trying to get your thinking about it.

          5                 MS. HOFFMAN: It might be worth it.

          6  One of the, I think the prison director in

          7  Huntsville, I am not sure, said once you hear the

          8  cry of a mother who is watching a child be put to

          9  death, you can never again feel the same way about

         10  the death penalty. And it is absolutely important to

         11  take in the victims and survivors, their point of

         12  view, but the killers also have family, and this is

         13  true whether the killers are innocent or guilty and

         14  being put to death, the guilty killer has brothers

         15  and sisters who lost control, who lost the capacity

         16  to help, and many of us have this in our families

         17  where someone has a drug problem, someone has an

         18  emotional problem, someone is mentally ill, and what

         19  if they kill? Your whole family is affected by that,

         20  and that is not brought out, and what you are

         21  suggesting, Council Member Perkins, may in fact

         22  educate the American people to the range of humanity

         23  that is affected by these brutal punishments.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, just a

         25  comment about that, we must understand that every
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          2  time that somebody is killed under the death

          3  penalty, every single one of us is part of that and

          4  maybe will give a very clear message to all of us in

          5  society that every time that somebody push the

          6  button, inject the injection, you are doing it

          7  yourself too to that individual and maybe that would

          8  do some good.

          9                 MS. HOFFMAN: May I ask a question at

         10  this time?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Proceed.

         12                 MS. HOFFMAN: I have a feeling that

         13  most of you are here because you are interested and

         14  not entirely in favor of the death penalty in any

         15  event, I am wondering about your fellows in the

         16  Council on this Committee who are not here who may

         17  be for the death penalty but not hearing all the

         18  testimony, will they be made to hear eventually?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: This is a

         20  standing committee and it is being heard by the

         21  Committee members. Most of the members of the

         22  Committee were here during part of it, and then we

         23  have some other individuals that are here because of

         24  their personal interest.

         25                 As the Committee legislature works,
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          2  when the Committee makes a vote, and if it is voted

          3  affirmatively, it is presented before the full body.

          4  The rest of the members have access to the reports

          5  that we have received, as well as the Committee's

          6  recommendation, and it is given to the full Council

          7  for their consideration.

          8                 MS. HOFFMAN: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Mr.

         10  Chairman, are we going to have a vote on this at

         11  some point soon?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: At some point.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Because you

         14  are a chair and you have a certain position that you

         15  have to hold, but I am a member of the Committee,

         16  and I would urge everybody who has been here to

         17  testify, to continue to write to the Council and the

         18  Council members and the Speaker to request this be

         19  put to a vote and brought to the floor of the

         20  Council.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: That would always

         22  be helpful.

         23                 MS. HOFFMAN: Thank you. We promise to

         24  do that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Good. I look
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          2  forward to seeing it. If I can get the next panel

          3  up? I want to thank this panel for their

          4  participation, and we will go forward with Mr. Carl

          5  Rosenstein, Gary Brackett, Masada Disenhouse and

          6  Nicole Crifo.

          7                 Okay, you can state your name for the

          8  record and please begin.

          9                 MR. BRACKETT: Gary Brackett. I am

         10  with the Living Theater. The Living Theater is a New

         11  York Institution that has been in existence over 50

         12  years, it started in 1947 by Julian Beck and Judith

         13  Melina. Julian Beck passed away in 1985, but Judith

         14  Melina is still very alive at the age of 75, and

         15  with her husband Hannah Resnikov runs the theater.

         16  They were here earlier today but had to leave.

         17                 For about five years we have been

         18  forming an adit prop play against the death penalty

         19  called Not In My Name. We perform it regularly in

         20  Times Square and we teach workshops based on it to

         21  instruct new people to learn how to perform it. Our

         22  original idea was to perform it whenever an

         23  execution is scheduled. Of course, we haven't been

         24  able to keep up. We also perform the play regularly

         25  in Italy where we often work, where we do a longer
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          2  version, and there is an enormous support in Italy

          3  against the death penalty and cried a lot of

          4  incredulity that the leader of the free world still

          5  has the death penalty on the books.

          6                 I would like to say that we get a lot

          7  of good reactions in Times Square, a lot of people

          8  stop. It's a short play, 15 minutes. We often do it

          9  in the cold or difficult conditions of traffic and

         10  so forth, sometimes there are cat calls, but often

         11  there is a great deal of support, so we take heart

         12  from that.

         13                 I would like to simply conclude by

         14  singing the song with which we end the death penalty

         15  play Not In My Name, it's called Not In My Name,

         16  it's the class song, music by James Jacobs and the

         17  words by Eugene Debbs, the socialist activist of the

         18  last century who wrote these words, maybe over 100

         19  years ago. And I would like to sing it for Steven

         20  Butler, who is going to be executed tonight in

         21  Texas.

         22                 (In song) While there is a lower

         23  class, I am of it. The prisoners on death row are

         24  the poor. While there is a criminal element, I am of

         25  it. When the government meets out vengeance, it
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          2  devalues human life.

          3                 While there is a soul in prison, I am

          4  not free. Break the cycle of vengeance, while there

          5  is a prisoner on death row, life itself is at stake.

          6                 While there is a soul in prison, I am

          7  not free. Break the cycle of vengeance, while there

          8  is a prisoner on death row, like itself is at stake.

          9  (End song).

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MS. CRIFO: Hi. My name is Nicole

         12  Crifo. I am the Criminal Justice Coordinator at the

         13  Intercommunity Center for Justice and Peace. My

         14  statement today is not one of expert testimony but

         15  rather one of support to let you know of a powerful

         16  mass of people who stand in support of your

         17  consideration of the resolution at hand and urge

         18  your passage of it.

         19                 The Intercommunity Center of Justice

         20  and Peace is a coalition of 42 Roman Catholic

         21  religious congregations in the tristate area and our

         22  offices here in New York City.

         23                 The Intercommunity Center for Justice

         24  and Peace and its member congregation stand with

         25  great sympathy and support for the families of
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          2  murder victims. It is impossible to imagine the

          3  horrors they experience.

          4                 However, we believe in the dignity of

          5  all human life, even that of those who have been

          6  convicted of the most heinous of crimes, as the US

          7  Catholic Bishops stated in their November 2000

          8  pastoral on criminal justice.

          9                 Murder at the hand of the state

         10  diminishes all people, and perpetuates our culture

         11  of violence, and leaves in its wake more childless

         12  parents and parentless children.

         13                 This basic principle, coupled with

         14  the issues of racism, class prejudice, execution of

         15  the mentally retarded and the mentally ill,

         16  execution of juveniles and the many other issues

         17  that permeate the administration of the death

         18  penalty make our opposition to this issue

         19  unquestionable.

         20                 As an organization, we are working to

         21  aid and educate our 42 congregations and taking

         22  public corporate stances against the death penalty.

         23  Many of their members have worked for years for an

         24  end to this punishment and are now recognizing the

         25  power, public statements of their opposition can
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          2  have on public and political conversation and

          3  thought on this issue.

          4                 We support the resolution being

          5  considered today for the power it, too, can have in

          6  terms of bringing to light the truth behind the

          7  death penalty, and in doing so, bringing justice to

          8  life instead of through death.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MS. DISENHOUSE: Hi. My name is Masada

         11  Disenhouse, and I am the Vice Chair of the Green

         12  Party of New York State.

         13                 As far as I know, ours is the only

         14  political party at the moment that has abolition of

         15  the death penalty on its platform. I think it is one

         16  of the major policy differences between the Green

         17  Party and the major parties that led the Green Party

         18  to become the third largest party in this past

         19  election and why in just over a year since becoming

         20  a new party here in New York State we have close to

         21  20,000 enrollees at the moment.

         22                 I am not an expert on the death

         23  penalty, I am here merely like the person who spoke

         24  before me, to show that there is a large number of

         25  people who oppose the death penalty. There are many
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          2  reasons why it should be brought to an end, and I

          3  think any one of those reasons that we have heard

          4  about today would in itself be sufficient to lead us

          5  to the conclusion that it should be ended. If it was

          6  just that the death penalty discriminates against

          7  people of color and poor people, the Green Party

          8  would oppose it. If it was only that our government

          9  has in the past sentenced and executed innocent

         10  people, we would oppose it. If it were only that the

         11  death penalty has not served as the deterrent it was

         12  supposed to be, we would oppose it. If it was only

         13  that there was a history of forced confessions and

         14  brutal interrogations leading to the death penalty

         15  for innocent people, we would oppose it. If it was

         16  only that the methods used by the government to put

         17  convicted criminals to death were brutal and

         18  inhumane we would oppose it. For these reasons, and

         19  many more, as I said, the Green Party opposes the

         20  death penalty. I want to thank you sincerely for

         21  having these hearings and giving people the

         22  opportunity to speak to this issue, and if as a

         23  Committee you recommend that this become a

         24  resolution to be passed by the City Council, I would

         25  like to offer my personal help and the help of other
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          2  Greens in New York in working with other Council

          3  members to see that this is passed and brought to

          4  the attention of New York State.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          7  much for your testimony.

          8                 I would like to announce that -- do

          9  you have a question?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I don't

         11  really have a question, but I have sat here quietly

         12  all day.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, please

         14  proceed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And I wanted

         16  to thank Council Member Perkins and to agree with

         17  Council Member Lopez that I am totally opposed to

         18  the death penalty and have been since I was a small

         19  child, and anybody who took history and heard about

         20  the barbaric occurrences in the Roman Coliseum or

         21  the French Revolution with Guillotines, I mean it is

         22  just antithetical to our concept of what the world

         23  should be, a sense of community and caring about

         24  other people. There is no way that we could ever

         25  make it a fair process, and I fully am in agreement
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          2  that it is open to discrimination, it is open to

          3  malpractice, it is open to all kinds of things, but

          4  there is nothing we can do to make it fairer, other

          5  than to really realize that we can't as a nation or

          6  even as an individual take another person's life

          7  because they did something that was terrible, if

          8  they are guilty.

          9                 So, I fully support this, but, of

         10  course, I would also fully support any kind of

         11  effort to abolish the death penalty any place. And I

         12  want to repeat again, because the person from the

         13  Green Party, it is not up to this Committee to vote

         14  on this, it is up to the leadership of the Council,

         15  and you must continue to pressure and to write and

         16  to call and to make it known, with your local

         17  Council members, as well as with the leadership,

         18  that we want this statement to come out of this

         19  Council.

         20                 I have told some of my colleagues

         21  that I met with an executioner from Texas, who used

         22  to do the electric chair executions. He electrocuted

         23  100 people. And what I found most astonishing was

         24  his total sense of detachment from what he was

         25  doing. He talked about he tested the chair with a
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          2  light bulb in the afternoon, that all of the lights

          3  in the prison would dim while he did that, and that

          4  is what I think illustrates how antithetical it is

          5  to our sense of community and democracy. You can't

          6  disassociate yourself from taking someone's life.

          7                 And there was a man executed in

          8  Arkansas, Ricki Ray, I can't remember what his last

          9  name is, who was mentally retarded, and when they

         10  came to lead him to his execution he left his pie in

         11  his cell and he said "please leave it, I will be

         12  back to finish it." So, we are not the people who

         13  can make these judgments and it serves no purpose.

         14                 So, anyway, thank you all for coming.

         15  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for having this hearing,

         16  and I wish us all luck.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you for

         18  participating. I am sorry we can't entertain

         19  comments from the floor. If you wanted to testify,

         20  fill out a slip and I will -- okay, I want to thank

         21  the witnesses. I want to announce that we do have

         22  testimony that was submitted by Carl Rosenstein of

         23  the Puffin Foundation, that will be put into the

         24  record, as well as Robert Merropool, who is the

         25  Executive Director for the Rosenberg Fund for
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          2  Children, and we will put this into the record.

          3                 I want to advise everyone here that

          4  as I indicated before, this hearing is being

          5  televised on Crosswalks, it's Channel 74. And if you

          6  look at Crosswalks at 6:00, they will probably give

          7  you the calendar as to when this specific hearing

          8  will be broadcast this evening.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In other

         10  words, 6:00 will tell you exactly what time this

         11  evening this hearing will be broadcast.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Channel 74. In

         13  Manhattan and in the Bronx. And Brooklyn and Queens.

         14                 Okay, I want to thank Lou Vetrone,

         15  our Counsel, and Sabine Salandi, our Legislative

         16  Analyst, for their work, as well as Council Member

         17  Perkins and Janise from his staff that helped to put

         18  this very interesting hearing together.

         19                 Being that there is no further

         20  business before this Committee, I hereby adjourn.

         21                 (The following testimony was read

         22  into the record.)

         23

         24  Written Testimony Of:

         25  Carl Rosenstein
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          2  Director of Puffin Room in SoHo

          3  The Puffin Room

          4

          5  Good afternoon, distinguished Council Members,

          6  Council Member Perkins. I am honored to be given the

          7  opportunity to speak before you today, at this

          8  crucial hearing on the death penalty.

          9                 My name is Carl Rosenstein and I am a

         10  trustee of the Puffin Foundation and the director of

         11  the Puffin Room in SoHo, an alternative

         12  exhibition/performance space.

         13                 Over the years we've had many

         14  important and historic exhibitions, examining

         15  through imagery or installation the pressing issues

         16  which confront us today in the City of New York

         17  including world peace, the environment and issues of

         18  social;justice.

         19                 We've shown works sponsored by the

         20  International Center for Peace of Israel; encounter

         21  photography between Palestinian and Israeli

         22  teenagers in an attempt to heal the hatred.

         23                 We've proudly exhibited posters from

         24  the Spanish Civil War and the struggle against

         25  fascism.
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          2                 We've presented children's drawings

          3  from Kosovo and Bosnia gathered by the Nobel Peace

          4  Prize recipients Doctors Without Borders.

          5                 And we've shown a heartbreaking

          6  exhibition sponsored by UNICEF about the terror of

          7  land mines and the crippling and maiming of children

          8  across the world.

          9                 The exhibition that has had the most

         10  profound personal effect upon myself, just concluded

         11  at the Puffin Room, is the Prison Industrial

         12  Complex. Council Members Bill Perkins, Kathryn Freed

         13  and Margarita Lopez attended and spoke at the

         14  opening reception.

         15                 The exhibit featured art works by

         16  prisoners, photography from Texas death row and a

         17  masterful installation by Scott Christiansen based

         18  on his book called Condemned, which depicts through

         19  mug shorts, prison records and last letters, the

         20  story of the Sing Sing death house, where between

         21  1891 and 1963 614 inmates were legally executed by

         22  New York State including, Ethel and Julius Rosenberg

         23  in 1953. The Rosenbergs were electrocuted not for

         24  murder, but for espionage at the height of the cold

         25  war, McCarthy era, hysteria.
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          2                 I am submitting the testimony of

          3  their son Robert Meeropol to the Committee. He and

          4  his brother are the only persons in the history of

          5  our nation to have both of their parents executed by

          6  the state. He resides in Springfield Mass. where he

          7  administers the Rosenberg Fund for children which

          8  assists children whose parents have been executed or

          9  incarcerated for political crimes.

         10                 Robert Meeropol spoke at the Puffin

         11  Room during the exhibit as did Ron Daniels of Center

         12  for Constitutional Rights and Professor James

         13  Liebman from Columbia University who have just

         14  testified before you. As did speakers from Amnesty

         15  International, the Legal Action Center, Prof Bryan

         16  Stehenson of the Alabama Equal Justice Initiative.

         17  Then there was Angela Davis, who on a November

         18  afternoon, spoke to more than 250 people packed into

         19  the gallery. Listening to her inspirational words in

         20  a charged room confirmed my belief that we can have

         21  progress, that we can have a more just and

         22  compassionate world. Thousands visited the Puffin

         23  Room, and several hundred of them wrote to the

         24  Speaker demanding this hearing be held in support of

         25  an immediate moratorium. And that is what this is
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          2  about.

          3                 It's about the people's will.

          4                 It's about compassion.

          5                 It's about equal justice.

          6                 The death penalty, moral issues

          7  aside, is administered today in this country too

          8  often purely as a political instrument for

          9  prosecutors, elected officials and judges. Those who

         10  are chosen are poor and disproportionately people of

         11  color. It is time to say no to this.

         12                 In light of the events surrounding

         13  our new president, sworn in under a cloud of

         14  illegitimacy, this resolution is much more than a

         15  proclamation of this City against a State law, it is

         16  a repudiation of the philosophy and policies of

         17  President Bush.

         18                 NYC has always been in the vanguard

         19  of progressive movements in our Country, from labor

         20  rights to women's rights, to the fight against

         21  apartheid. It is time for us to assume a role in yet

         22  another great struggle.

         23                 To conclude I will read from

         24  Condemned the Prison entry profile of Helen Hayes, a

         25  mother of 9, who was executed in 1952 at Sing Sing
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          2  and then with the committees permission I would like

          3  to invite the poet Gloria to read her last letter.

          4  It is not long.

          5                 Thank you, honored Committee members.

          6                 (The following letter was typed

          7  verbatim.)

          8

          9  Helen Ray Fowler

         10

         11  Plea to Lt. Governor Hanley

         12  Nov. 16, 1944

         13

         14                 Dear Governor,

         15                 I was a good mother to my children. I

         16  washed, ironed, kept roomers, borders for their

         17  living. I fought all of the time to keep my children

         18  under a roof with me. Please give me a chance to

         19  prove these things. I've said I'm not guilty of any

         20  murder or robbery but I did help get the man out of

         21  the house or he'd have left him there in the trunk

         22  because he was drunk for over a week after and a

         23  couple of days before.

         24                 Please have mercy on me Please spare

         25  my life. I've not been no nuissance to society. I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            164

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  always did the best I could until I had to call in

          3  an officer but I was scared to death over this. I

          4  never was around a thing like this. The first thing

          5  you think of is your children. No one to keep them.

          6  I have a little boy, ten, one five, a girl of

          7  fourteen, one eighteen, one twenty, a grand-child, I

          8  cared for all the time. I made a mistake by not

          9  calling the police because I knew I'd be held and

         10  kept from my children. Please spare my life.

         11                 I did wrong, but please for God's

         12  sake, give me a chance to prove these things, and

         13  you'll see the things just like I do and not lying

         14  for my life and begging a chance to prove these

         15  things.

         16                 If you'll please let my life be

         17  spared I'll tell you just where and how I can prove

         18  these things and through my lawyers. Please help me,

         19  please don't let me down for sticking to my children

         20  you see it's true or I'd have brought this out

         21  before now. It's a mother's love.

         22

         23

         24

         25  Written Testimony Of:
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          2  Robert Merropool

          3  Executive Director

          4  Rosenberg Fund for Children

          5  1145 Main Street, Suite 408

          6  Springfield, MA 01103

          7  413.739.9020

          8  413.750.5998

          9

         10  Statement of Robert Meeropool, January 16, 2001

         11

         12  Democracy and the Death Penalty.

         13                 I support a moratorium on the

         14  imposition of capital punishment because I believe

         15  it is a step towards its abolition. I oppose capital

         16  punishment for many reasons, but will focus on one

         17  that is elucidated less frequently than the others.

         18  Capital punishment both undermines and corrupts our

         19  democracy.

         20                 We're supposed to have a limited form

         21  of government. The principle underlying our Federal

         22  and State Constitutions is that the people retain

         23  all rights not expressly granted to these

         24  Governments by their respective constitutions. In

         25  other words, in our system, people are sovereign.
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          2  Granting government officials the right to impose

          3  the death penalty gives them life and death power, a

          4  form of absolute power. This is an abdication of our

          5  sovereignty.

          6                 Capital punishment is a national

          7  system set in motion by thousands of county

          8  prosecutors and district attorneys. The initial

          9  decision to charge someone with a capital offense is

         10  made by these elected officials. Elected state

         11  judges try many of these cases and elected appellate

         12  justices often review the trial court's findings.

         13  And of course, the finals thumb up or down is given

         14  by a Governor or President.

         15                 That an electoral majority may vote

         16  for those who make these decisions does not

         17  undermine my argument. The majority does not further

         18  democratic ideals by subverting basic rights. While

         19  not part of the Constitution, the Declaration of

         20  Independence lists "life" as our most basic right.

         21  Even though he won two gubernatorial races, and is,

         22  by Supreme Court decree, our President, George V.

         23  Bush, the modern champion of thumbs down, has

         24  betrayed our democratic ideals by undermining our

         25  sovereignty with each of the 150 executions he has
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          2  presided over as Governor.

          3                 Capital punishment corrupts democracy

          4  by concentrating too much power in government

          5  officials' hands. A ninetheenth-century British Lord

          6  best captured American suspicion of concentrated

          7  governmental power. Lord Acton said: "Power tends to

          8  corrupt. Absolute power tends to corrupt

          9  absolutely."

         10                 It is one of the great ironies of our

         11  modern age that many citizens who don't trust

         12  government officials to develop a fair tax code or

         13  even put up a traffic light, our willing to grant

         14  them the power of life and death. In the wake of a

         15  murder, the police must demonstrate their competence

         16  by quickly finding and arresting their killer. Once

         17  the arrest is made they are loath to admit a

         18  mistake. The prosecutor must show the electorate he

         19  or she is tough on crime by demanding the death

         20  penalty and by rapidly obtaining a conviction. If

         21  new evidence stands in the way it can be ignored or

         22  even buried. Trial judges won't make evidentiary

         23  rulings that might hinder a conviction. They fear

         24  the charge that they are coddling criminals. They

         25  guide juries with prosecution-oriented instructions

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            168

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  to ensure this will not happen. This foursome of

          3  precipitous police action, fabricated evidence,

          4  prosecutorial misconduct and judicial bias is

          5  formula for injustice.

          6                 Since capital punishment allows for

          7  no room for error, the stewards of the fatally

          8  flawed system must demonstrate that the institution

          9  they represent is perfect. George W. Bush will tell

         10  you that he is absolutely certain that the 150

         11  people killed during his tenure as Governor

         12  committed capital crimes. His buddy, Governor Ridge,

         13  who hosted the Republican National Convention last

         14  summer, is just as sure that every single one of the

         15  more than 200 death warrants he has signed in the

         16  last five years, including two for Mumia Abul-Jamal,

         17  is for someone who committed a capital offense.

         18                 Capital punishment's demand for the

         19  appearance of absolute perfection feeds corruption.

         20  Appellate justices, Supreme Court Justices, special

         21  boards of appeals and gubernatorial review are

         22  ostensibly designed to prevent a miscarriage of

         23  justice. But these layers of bureaucracy often

         24  become mechanisms to demonstrate the system's

         25  perfection. Admission of error threatens the entire
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          2  edifice of a system that requires flawlessness. The

          3  fact that an inmate facing immediate execution has

          4  lost 32 appeals in a row is just as likely to reveal

          5  the corruption of the system, as it has to prove

          6  that inmate's guilt.

          7                 The need to prove infallibility leads

          8  groups of supposedly erudite individuals to

          9  conclusions that are so stupid they would be

         10  laughable if he consequences weren't so deadly

         11  serious. For instance, a panel of judges reviewing

         12  capital appeals in Texas has ruled that a coerced

         13  confession constituted harmless error in a case

         14  where there is little other evidence. Every law

         15  student is taught that a defendant's confession is

         16  the most powerful evidence of guilt a prosecutor can

         17  have! Courts have even held that a defense attorney

         18  rendered a competent defense even though he slept

         19  through portions of a capital trial.

         20                 The Capital Punishment Complex breeds

         21  error and the primary task of the bureaucracy that

         22  is supposed to guard against such error is to

         23  explain it away. Democracy cannot flourish along

         24  side such a massive, festering human rights abuse.

         25  "Power tends to corrupt. Absolute power tends to
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          2  corrupt absolutely." The government can't abuse its

          3  power if we don't let them have it.

          4                 (Copyright Robert Meeropool, 2000).

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 4:25 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 22nd day of January 2001.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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